
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2015-0089
	Milton Hydro Distribution Inc.

	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	Oral Hearing

April 5, 2016
Emad Elsayed
Ken Quesnelle
Peter C.P. Thompson, Q.C.
	Presiding Member

Member
Member


EB-2015-0089
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Milton Hydro Distribution Inc.

Application for electricity distribution rates and

other charges beginning May 1, 2016
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Tuesday, April 5, 2016,

commencing at 9:29 a.m.

----------------------------------------
ORAL HEARING
----------------------------------------
BEFORE:

EMAD ELSAYED



Presiding Member

KEN QUESNELLE



Member


PETER C.P. THOMPSON, Q.C.
Member
IAN RICHLER
Board Counsel

HAROLD THIESSEN
Board Staff
JAMES SIDLOFSKY
Milton Hydro Distribution Inc.
BRUCE BACON
RANDY AIKEN
Energy Probe Research Foundation
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (Schools, SEC)
MICHAEL JANIGAN
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC)
1--- On commencing at 9:29 a.m.


1MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1, resumed



F. Lasowski, C. McKenzie, M.J. Corkum, B. Pereira,

A. Mastrofrancesco, Previously Affirmed

1Continued Questions by the Board


8MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2, resumed



F. Lasowski, C. McKenzie, M.J. Corkum, B. Pereira,

A. Mastrofrancesco, Previously Affirmed

8Cross-Examination by Mr. Richler


32Questions by the Board


42--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


42--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.


44Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


95--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.


95--- On resuming at 2:02 p.m.


95Argument-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky


109--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:26 p.m.




18EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  OEB STAFF'S TABLE


42EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SEC FOR MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION PANEL 2.


43EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  LAWSON ROAD DRAWING.


44EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  FLOOR ONE OF CHISHOLM.


44EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  FLOOR TWO OF CHISHOLM.





4UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO UPDATE TO TABLE 4-12 TO PROVIDE THE BACKUP DATA AND INFLATION NUMBER FOR 10 YEARS FROM 2006 TO 2016.


7UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THE 5,000 SQUARE FOOT MEZZANINE.


8UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3(AMENDED):  UNDERTAKING NO. 1.3 AMENDED TO INCLUDE THE COST FOR THE LAND PER SQUARE FOOT AND THE INSIDE STORAGE, LAND PLUS BUILDING, PER SQUARE FOOT.


34UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO CALCULATE THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT RELATED TO THE 5,000 SQUARE FEET OF THIS TOTAL PROJECT.


84UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF FLOOR PLANS FOR EACH OF THE CHISHOLM DRIVE FLOORS SHOWING WHERE THERE ARE ACTUALLY EMPLOYEES






Tuesday, April 5, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:29 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  I just wanted to inform the parties that Mr. Shepherd will not be able to make it, at least the initial part of the hearing.  He was involved in a car accident.  We don't know any more about that, so he may or may not join us later on, so we will play it by ear and see what happens.

So for now, we will proceed with cross-examination by the OEB staff, and also if the panel has any questions, and then assess the situation at that point.

So I don't believe I need to take any appearances.  We have the same people we had yesterday.  Also, Mr. Sidlofsky, we have the same witness panel that we had yesterday.  They have been introduced and affirmed.  So I'm not sure if you wanted to say anything else at this point?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, that's fine, sir.  They understand they're still under affirmation.
MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1, resumed


Frank Lasowski, Previously Affirmed.

Cameron McKenzie, Previously Affirmed.

Mary-Jo Corkum, Previously Affirmed.

Bruno Pereira, Previously Affirmed.

Aldo Mastrofrancesco, Previously Affirmed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Any preliminary matters by anyone?  I believe Mr. Thompson has a question.
Continued Questions by the Board:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, I -- if you don't mind, panel, this is just a follow-up to the OM&A.  I just wanted to get a little more backup information if I could.  And the Chair has permitted me to ask these questions.

And if you could turn up the OM&A per customer CGAAP, that's at page 14 of the Exhibit K1.2.  There was a lot of discussion with Mr. Shepherd yesterday referring to, I think it was Mr. Janigan's Exhibit K1.6, page 11, about these CGAAP numbers.  And what you've done on this slide as I understand it is put all the numbers for all the years in that accounting format.  Is that right?  And so what he was talking about was -- sorry.

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  He was comparing 2011 to 2016 in his examination, and your slide takes it from 2006 to 2016 test year.

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.  Under CGAAP.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And so -- and just for example, the numbers that Mr. Shepherd was referring to for total OM&A for 2011 was the number 6,396,763 at page 11 of Mr. Janigan's exhibit.

MS. CORKUM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we have the customer numbers in another document that was being referenced yesterday for that year and for each of the subsequent years.  I think they are in K1.5 at table 4.2.  Do you see that in the first line?  Over 2011 the customer numbers are 30,461.  Right?

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we have the customer numbers there and we have the dollars elsewhere with respect to this table.  And what I would like you to do by way of undertaking, if you wouldn't mind, is for each of these years provide the backup.  So we have the customer -- so we have the total dollars in CGAAP for each of the years, we have the customers for each of the years, and then from those numbers you derive the cost per customer for each of those years.  So we just have a backup to this sheet that provides the data that's all over the place.

MS. CORKUM:  Just a clarifying question.  The number of customers that are on this sheet is average customers, whereas the OEB statistical yearbook uses year-end customer numbers.  Which would you prefer to have?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what are the --


MS. CORKUM:  Both?

MR. THOMPSON:  -- ones that are in 4.12?

MS. CORKUM:  4.12 is average.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And were those the numbers that were used to derive the cost per customer that's shown in the bar chart?

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I want the numbers you used to derive this --


MS. CORKUM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- this graph, okay?  And then the other -- this will be all one undertaking.  The other information that is reflected in this table but we don't have the backup data is the inflation numbers for, I guess it's the ten years.  You show in the chart that the inflation is 17.7 percent, but that is a buildup, as I understand it, from everything from 2006 to 2016.

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so could you --


MS. CORKUM:  Per year?

MR. THOMPSON:  Per year.

MS. CORKUM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And just so you'll -- so that's the information I would like to have, so we have an undertaking number for that, please.

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, that will be Undertaking No. J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO UPDATE TO TABLE 4-12 TO PROVIDE THE BACKUP DATA AND INFLATION NUMBER FOR 10 YEARS FROM 2006 TO 2016.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just so you'll know and parties will know where I'm coming from on this, because you may want to address it in argument, is I was trying to take these numbers to estimate the non-inflation component in the cost per customer in the 2016 test year.

Let me just back up one step.  In the discussion yesterday for 2016 there was a -- the number that's in Mr. Janigan's exhibit at page 11 for total OM&A cost was 9117462.  When (sic) -- your discussion with Mr. Shepherd you agreed, as I understood it, that there should be 219,000 added to that number to reconcile with your ask.

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So when you're doing 2016 in my backup, please add that 219,000 to that year.

MS. CORKUM:  Okay.  We'll do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay?  But just so you'll understand what I make of these numbers is I get the cost per customer number for 2011 based on this data to be about $210 per customer.  And I get the cost per customer for 2016 based on the increased number to be about $254 and some change, maybe about 50 cents or a little more.


So what you have, then, is the increase from 2010 to 2055 roughly, which is $45, and that works out to a number in excess of 20 percent.  And then the inflation numbers will produce what inflation alone would produce for that 2016 number.  And then you'll get a spread, which is the non-inflation component of the 2016 cost per customer.

You can multiply that by the total number of customers in 2016, and it gives you a global number that's -- I make it in the order of $850,000.  So that's the non-inflation component of the increase, and then your evidence addresses the non-inflation related cost that you've incurred in that time frame, and your numbers total something north of two-and-a-half-million dollars.

So I'm trying to reconcile what your number is focusing on in terms of that cost per customer.  So that's where I'm coming from.  I hope that's clear.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The only other number --

MR. MCKENZIE:  Just a clarification, Mr. Thompson.  The numbers you want from 2011 to 2016 are in CGAAP.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And you would like us to back out of those numbers the inflation impact, to get a cost before inflation?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I don't want to you to do anything like that this.  I just want you to know why I'm asking this question.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Others will argue as to what all these numbers mean.  But the data, I believe, provides a basis for identifying the non-inflation component of the cost per customer in 2016.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's the number I'm looking for, but it will come from the data.  The other -- you mentioned in the presentation yesterday that you're forecasting customers -- sorry, not customers, you're forecasting staffing out to 2021.  That was in one of the -- I think it’s the third last page or so in Exhibit K1.3.  You had 69.5 staff members as of 2021.  Do you recall that number?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the number at the end of 2016 is 61 or 61.5, right.  Do you have the year end numbers for each of the years between '16 and '21?

The reason I ask that is that you can then take the customer forecast that you're doing on another exhibit and give us the FTE, the customers for FTE on a forward-looking basis.  And that's what I would like to see, because I believe again that your FTE -- sorry, the number of customers per FTE is increasing and getting back to where it was back in 2006.

So I think that's an outcome we should know about.  So if you could add to that previous undertaking about OM&A costs and customers for the period 2017 to '21, the employee count at the end of each of those years.

MS. CORKUM:  Great.  Yes, we'll do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That will be in addition then to J1.13?

MR. LASOWSKI:  From yesterday.

MR. RICHLER:  By my count, that will all be encompassed in one undertaking, which we'll call J2.2.  Does that make sense?
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THE 5,000 SQUARE FOOT MEZZANINE.

MR. THOMPSON:  The questions about Exhibit J1.2, that's one undertaking.  And then I’m suggesting that the customer numbers simply be added, as Mr. McKenzie said, to J1.3 because we’ve got the OM&A and customers and -- sorry, and the employee numbers.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Added employees, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you with me, Mr. Richler?

MR. RICHLER:  Sorry, can you say that one more time, just so I have the list right?

MR. THOMPSON:  J1.3 was an undertaking to provide OM&A costs and customers for each of the years 2017 to 2021.  Okay?

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  All we're adding to that now is the year end employees for each of those years to that undertaking.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Is that clear to the witnesses?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it's simply an addition to J1.13. And you're correct, it just flows better.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you so much.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3(AMENDED):  UNDERTAKING NO. 1.3 AMENDED TO INCLUDE THE COST FOR THE LAND PER SQUARE FOOT AND THE INSIDE STORAGE, LAND PLUS BUILDING, PER SQUARE FOOT.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Now we go to Mr. Richler.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  And I should just confirm that Mr. Janigan advised that he has no questions for the witness panel on the building issue.
MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2, resumed


Frank Lasowski, Previously Affirmed.

Cameron McKenzie, Previously Affirmed.

Mary-Jo Corkum, Previously Affirmed.

Bruno Pereira, Previously Affirmed.

Aldo Mastrofrancesco, Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Richler:


I think it will be most efficient if I structure my cross-examination today around your presentation on the building.  What I am going to propose do is flip through your presentation more or less in order, asking questions along the way.  And I see you've already got it on the screen, so thank you.

If we go to the third page of the presentation, the slide called "Requirements", here it says you are looking for 26,000 square feet of admin space, 37,000 square feet of operation space, and 65,000 square feet of outside storage for a total space requirement of 128,000 square feet.

My question is:  Where in your evidence before yesterday is there anything to indicate that you needed 65,000 square feet of outside storage space?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I believe it's in -- and I can check it for you -- the response to the interrogatory from Schools, 114 I think, which has the location committee -- relocation committee minutes, and in there it outlines different scenarios.  And I think you'll find in there that that's the requirements we were looking for.

MR. RICHLER:  I did look at the minutes of the relocation committee meetings, and I didn't see a reference to this particular number of 65,000 square feet of outside storage.

So maybe I can ask Mr. Lasowski.  You are a member of that committee, weren't you?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Is it your recollection that 65,000 square feet was an objective that was discussed at those committee meetings?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe Mr. McKenzie is correct.  I thought we did mention it.  I'm not sure it was recorded in the minutes, but the 65,000 square feet was approximately what we had based on Lawson and our property at Fifth and Main.

MR. RICHLER:  So you derived that number by looking at what you already had, assumed that was adequate, and carried that forward to your new space?  Is that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, you say on the slide that you need a total of 128,000 square feet.  And in fact, the Chisholm Drive property is only 120,828 square feet, including outside storage.

So are you telling us Chisholm Drive is actually too small?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, I think what I was trying to show is that it was less than what we were looking, and unfortunately we didn't have the option to pick the ideal site.

MR. RICHLER:  Chisholm -- you've now been in Chisholm Drive for almost four months, right -- or more than four months; is that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, we moved in December.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  And does it feel too tight?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, I think it's adequate.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's go forward two slides to the slide entitled "options considered".  Under option 12, which of course is the option you chose, are these costs the actual costs or the predicted costs at the time you were assessing your options?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's a bit of a hybrid.  Some of them with respect to the purchase of the property, those are actuals.  The costs to construct or renovate Chisholm are approximations.

MR. RICHLER:  So let's start with the cost to purchase the property, which you say was an actual.  If I'm reading this right, this column suggests that the total value of the land and building before the renovation was $7.39 million.  That's 4 million for land plus 3.39 for the building pre-reno; is that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Yet the actual purchase price of the Chisholm property was only $7.25 million, wasn't it?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That was the purchase price for the property itself, but we've added some of the costs that were incurred for legal and everything else in there.

MR. RICHLER:  So that $140,000 delta, that's for legals and other purchase --


MR. LASOWSKI:  Land transfer tax, yeah.

MR. RICHLER:  And I just wanted to reconcile the numbers in this column with some of the other numbers that appeared in your earlier evidence.  And you don't have to turn this up necessarily.  But in your responses to 2 Energy Probe 13 and 2 Energy Probe 9 there is a suggestion that a total of $10.5 million was spent on the land and buildings.  How does that line up with what appears in this column?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Can you give us just a minute while we look it up?

MR. RICHLER:  Sure.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Is that in the original interrogatory responses?  Thank you.

Would you repeat the question, please, then with the references?

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Well, maybe we should turn up the references one by one if you don't mind.

2 Energy Probe 9.  This is your response dated December 18th, 2015.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I've got that.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Are you able to pull it up, or...

MR. MCKENZIE:  I should be able to.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Page 127 of 901.  Thank you.

So if you look at paragraph B under your response, it says the total building and land should be 15.5 million and furniture is 500,000, for the total of 11 million.  So I guess the 15.5 is a typo and it should have been 10.5 there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So that 10.5 --


MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, the total is wrong.  Should be 16.  It should be 15 million for the land and building, 500,000 is for the furniture, for a total of fifteen-five.  So the total of 11 should be the total of the two.  And then we -- that was adjusted down to 14,460,000 in the update to the actuals that we thought.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So it is 15.5, not 10.5?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.  In total.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  And then if you look at your response to 2 Energy Probe 13, which is on page 136 of the same document, it says that the actual capital expenditures incurred to date for the new service centre/administration building is -- and you've got 4 million approximately for land and 6-and-a-half million for building and renovations, which is about 10-and-a-half million.  So is that because -- was that because you hadn't incurred all your expenses at the time?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  Those are the costs up to the end of October, the actual costs spent.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Thanks for that clarification.

Let's return to the presentation.  On the next page is a slide called "outside storage".  This is the Google aerial view of your property.  You've identified a rectangle of 29,000 square feet of outside storage.  But it sure looks like there is still a lot of space for more outside storage than that, doesn't it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It does.  The front part of the building is under conservation and we cannot extend out beyond the parking lot.

MR. RICHLER:  So the front part -- am I right that this is oriented with north on top, so the front part is the area on the very top or to the north of the parking lot?  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it aligns with the road.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So you can't do anything with any of that green space?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  How about that little corner of green space to the southwest of the parking lot?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That actually has been used for our storage of our aggregates, our soil and stuff.  That actually has been used up for that storage, not the inventory storage.

MR. RICHLER:  And what's that paved area to the south of the building?  Can't you use that for outside storage?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, that's for the vehicle access, obviously with our trucks and trailers we need that space to give us turning radiuses and everything else, and in addition right in the corner of that green space in the building is where our gas pumps are now.

MR. RICHLER:  Which corner are the pumps in?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Sort of -- the way you've directed it, this -- the southeast corner of the building.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Could you maybe just point to the picture behind you just so I understand?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Right there.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So just to the, on the southwest --


MR. LASOWSKI:  Southeast -- southwest.

MR. RICHLER:  -- part of the green rectangle.  And if we look at the parking lot, I can count over 120 spots, although I admit -- as we saw yesterday with the undertakings, counting is not my forte.  But won't you agree with 61-and-a-half FTEs, you've got about twice the number of parking spaces you need?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Unfortunately, because of the building requirements, we are mandated to the size of the building how many parking spots we must provide.

MR. RICHLER:  Are you right at the mandated minimum?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I think we're a couple over.

MR. RICHLER:  So I take it that   none of that parking area could be used for storage?

MR. LASOWSKI:  For storage.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's flip forward a few pages to the original property listing for 200 Chisholm Drive.  This indicates that the building that you bought before you renovated it had 20,000 square feet of office space, a 12,800 square foot mezzanine and 59,028 square feet of warehouse, for a total of 91,828 square feet.

Would you agree that's an accurate description of the pre-reno building?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Do I understand correctly you essentially converted the entire 12,800 square feet of mezzanine space into office space, and that's why you say later on that the total area devoted to administration is 32,800?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is also correct.  That includes the 5,000 we have said is empty.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll skip floor plan slides and go to admin and operation space.  Here you provide in the right-hand column the current breakdown between the office space and the warehouse space.

And as the table suggests, this has changed since your earlier evidence.  You said in your March 24, 2016, response to SEC that you had to revise the space allocated to office from 43,618 to 32,800.

Can you explain how you came up with the higher number initially, and realized it was overstated?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 43,600 is based above -- the 20,000 square feet of floor space, and the mezzanine.  But it also included the area under the mezzanine that was renovated for lockers, our meter shop and operations area.

When we compared ourselves to some of the other distributors that came in Board Staff’s table, we realized that lockers, meter shops, and work areas were not included as part of administration.  It was strictly the administration portion which was for office staff and engineering and admin functions.

So that's why we took out the bottom part of the mezzanine that was dedicated to the operations side of the business.

MR. RICHLER:  You said in the text box that space within the warehouse was renovated to accommodate operations for areas such as the metering shop, lines, locker room, and system control area.

About that system control room, I thought you outsourced your control room to Guelph Hydro -- or is this a different control room?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is not.  We call it a control room, because that's where the map and computer system is.  We don't have the operators there; the operators are in Guelph.

But we have a set of maps that we reference internally, and that's all located in that area.

MR. RICHLER:  The next slide is entitled “future mezzanine space”.  This is 5,000 square feet of unused space, just a big white empty room, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Is the idea that you will grow into this space eventually?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Any timeline for that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Not really.

MR. RICHLER:  Are we talking one year, five years, ten years?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Oh, within five to ten.

MR. RICHLER:  There is nothing you can do with this space in the interim?


MR. MCKENZIE:  Not at the present time, no.  The best we can use it for would be internal storage of additional filing and that.  But right now, it is a vacant space.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's turn to the next page; admin space, recent decisions, and comparison.  You said this slide was based on OEB Staff's table, which I suppose I should take the opportunity to mark as an exhibit now.  That will be Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  OEB STAFF'S TABLE


Am I right our table formed the starting point for this slide?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.  The top is the table that was provided.

MR. RICHLER:  Although, of course, our table used your initial figure for the Milton admin square footage of 43,618, which you replaced in the far right column with 32,800.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And of course, that change has some cascading impacts, such as on the square footage per FTE?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Another small change I noticed was that you say Milton has 41.5 admin only FTEs, whereas our table put it at 41, again based on your initial evidence.  Can you explain the addition of half an employee?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would just be the way we counted up our staff including students, so we ended up with the 41-and-a-half.

MR. RICHLER:  Speaking of FTEs, I should perhaps note while our table and yours both put the told number of FTEs at Chisholm Drive at 61.5, that is actually the number forecast for the 2016 test year, not the number of employees when you moved in in December 2015; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And that number on moving was what, 55?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It was 55, yes, and we had three existing vacancies at the time that needed to be filled.

MR. RICHLER:  Sticking with the upper table on this slide, let's look at the square footage per FTE.  For the Milton building as a whole, including both the admin and the OPS components, you see the square footage of 1,493 per FTE is higher than any of the three other combined admin OPS in the table, namely Waterloo North, Innisfil, and Hydro Ottawa; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Would you agree -- and you can take this subject to check -- that the average per square foot per FTE for those three other combined admin OPS facilities is 778?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Subject to check, yes, we can take that.

MR. RICHLER:  So if we were to multiply that average square footage per FTE by the number of FTEs you have in the test year, 61.5, we would get 47,847 square feet, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. RICHLER:  And that's over half the actual square footage of the Chisholm Drive building, isn’t it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So didn't you buy about twice as much building as you needed?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, the 91,000 square feet of admin and OPS, a portion of that -- a significant portion of that is warehouse space, which is being used for storage, as we did not have the outside storage that we anticipated with the 29,000 square feet.  We have moved all the remaining stores that we have inside that warehouse.

So the warehouse portion is actually for our trucks and some of our stores.  And then all our outside storage that we used to have is now inside as well.

So it’s a combined facility at the back.  To compare the 91,000 saying that's all -- yes, that's total building. But a lot of it is being used for current storage that used to be outside.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  We'll come back to that issue in a moment.

But while we're on this slide, if we isolate on the office part of the building we see that there are 41.5 employees working in 32,800 square feet, which means 790 square feet per employee, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And that is considerably higher than either of the LDCs on the table that a have an admin-only building.  PowerStream has 368 square feet per FTE, and Enersource has 527.  Do you see that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  So looking only at office space, doesn't it appear that Milton has over 75 percent more space per employee than the average of the other two comparators?  And you can take that subject to check if you like, but my calculations are 448 square feet per FTE average for PowerStream and Enersource versus 790 for Milton.

MR. MCKENZIE:  What was your percentage again, please?

MR. RICHLER:  I suggested that Milton has over 75 percent more space per employee than the average of PowerStream and Enersource.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And that's based on 448 square feet and 790?

MR. RICHLER:  Yeah.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry.  To me it looks like it's less than 50 percent, if you're looking at that 448 and the 790.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Well, if we forget about percentages you'll agree that there's 250 square feet more per FTE in Milton's building?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is, and I think we've already admitted that you're including that 5,000 square feet of vacant space.  The other comment I would make is obviously there is common areas that are used, and as you increase the employees, when you look at what PowerStream has an employee count as well as Enersource, that common space gets divided amongst more people, and therefore we will have just by the fact that we have a smaller number, that common space by employee gets bigger, and we will have probably more square feet per employee.

MR. RICHLER:  Is there any reason Milton's admin staff need more space than PowerStream's or Enersource's?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, I'm not saying they need more space.  I'm saying that in a building there is common space for elevators, washrooms, and everything else, and if you take that common space we will have that same requirement in Milton as PowerStream and as Enersource does, but we can't divide that space amongst a larger number.  So when you divide that common space by a smaller number, you're going to end up with the higher square footage per employee.  I think for your comparison what we should be comparing is what would an individual employee have that's dedicated to themselves, as opposed to the whole building.

MR. RICHLER:  And how does that compare?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We don't have any information showing what the room sizes or the employee sizes, work stations are for Enersource or PowerStream.  But I would venture that they will be quite comparable.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you have any industry standard or other benchmark against which you can assess the actual personal work space per Milton admin employee?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We do not.  I'm not sure if there is something readily available or not, but we do not have it.

MR. RICHLER:  I would like to ask you a conceptual question, and this is not meant to be argumentative.  Would you agree that a reasonable way for the Board to analyze whether the cost of the building was prudent would be to look at how much space you actually needed and then to assess how much it would have cost to get a right-sized building?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Could you repeat that one more time, please?

MR. RICHLER:  Would you agree that a reasonable way for the Board to analyze whether the cost of the building was prudent would be to look at how much space you actually needed and then to assess how much it would have cost to get that size building?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, I -- and I think the slide that we're on sort of indicates what a, quote, right-size building would have cost us.  And you'll see that that cost actually is higher than what we actually paid for our building.

MR. RICHLER:  I suggested earlier by way of question that if we multiplied the average square footage per FTE in the other utility buildings that have combined admin ops facilities by the number of FTEs you have we would get 47,847 square feet.  And if you'll just follow me along for a moment, let's say we ran that up to 48,000 square feet and ask how much would that have cost, one way to look at it would be to multiply that 48,000 square feet by the $158 per square foot that you actually paid, which would equal about $7.6 million.  Does that approach make sense, or do you believe some other dollar per square foot multipliers would be used?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The $158 is what we have for 200 Chisholm based on the square footage.  If you want to compare to what other utilities have built, you're looking at a range of 225 to 240.  That would be more accurate for 48,000 square feet of new space.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Now, I recognize that $158 per square foot is the lowest price paid by any of these LDCs for their properties, which you can see on the table in the next page, cost to construct, recent decisions, and comparison.  So what if we took the average cost per square foot in that table for the other combined admin ops properties -- i.e., Waterloo North, Innisfil, and Hydro Ottawa -- and multiplied that by 48,000 square feet?  That methodology would effectively give Milton some credit for having gotten a relatively low price per square foot, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would, but however, I would exclude Hydro Ottawa, as that is not a complete building, that is an amount assigned in their decision or provided in their decision until such time as they come in with an actual number.  Hydro Ottawa has filed an incentive rate under custom IR with the building in there which was substantially higher.  I believe it was in the 90,000 range.  In their decision they were granted 66,000 until such time as they were able to come in with final costs.  So the $188 is not a cost to build.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So what if --

MR. MCKENZIE:  However, the others are, the other three, or other four.

MR. RICHLER:  Well, what if we look only at the admin -- combined admin-ops buildings, Waterloo North and Innisfil, and we took the average cost per square foot, so we're looking at 255 for Waterloo North and 301 for Innisfil.  If you took the average of that, which is somewhere around 275, and multiplied that by the 48,000 square feet that I've suggested you need, what would you have ended up with?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would be a cost of approximately 13.2 million.  However, that's also assuming that the buildings that you're comparing to do not require the inside storage space that Milton Hydro has.  They have ample outside storage space, so the total building for Milton Hydro includes space that would normally be outside storage that is now brought inside.

You're comparing 13.2 million to our cost of 14.6 -- 460 is where we are with the building right now.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.  And you're suggesting that's not an apples-to-apples comparison?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Not entirely, because a lot of that space we have is storage that we had to bring inside.

MR. RICHLER:  Again we'll come back to that in a moment.  Just a minor point of clarification on this table; you have the number of FTEs for Innisfil at 40.5, which is different than the 41 we had in our table, and in fact different than the 41 on the previous page of your presentation.

Is that 40.5 a typo or a deliberate change?  While you're thinking, I should say I don't think it materially affects the analysis, but I want to understand the reason for the revision.

MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe it's just a typo.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It was probably a rounding in the cells in Excel.  40.5 is --


MR. RICHLER:  Let's return to the admin space recent decisions and comparison slide.  And this time, let's look at the table on the bottom which is specific to Milton Hydro.

In the second column, you run the numbers after deducting inside storage of 36,000 square feet.  And in so doing, you reduce the square foot FTEs from 1493 to 908, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  I must confess I don't follow the logic of this one.  You paid for the whole 92,000 square feet, didn't you?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Doesn't this table ask us to pretend the building is 26,000 square feet smaller than it really is?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is.

MR. RICHLER:  And as far as you know, none of the values for the other LDCs on this slide were calculated on the basis of deducting that part of the building used for storage, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The other utilities have ample outside storage.  The reason year we’re bringing material inside that would be outside is there is no outside storage space.  So the intent is that space, the 36,000 square feet of warehouse space should be outside.  But it’s not; we don’t have the room.

MR. RICHLER:  But the fact is you bought 92,000 square feet of building.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, knowing we would have to bring some inside.

MR. RICHLER:  By the same token, on the column to the right of that, why should we deduct the 5,000 square feet that's currently not used?  Just because you're not putting that space to any productive use now doesn't mean it doesn't exist, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, it was inserted as a reference to look at the ratio numbers.  So if you look at what space actually is being used -- and to your point, the building was the building so it turned out, because of the way the mezzanine and the fire code requirements were, the 12,800 feet was included as part of the administration space, but only 27,000 of it is actually being used.

It was shown as a ratio.  But it is there, yes, it is total -- the ratio is there.

MR. RICHLER:  And you bought it, you own it?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.  We still think it was a worthwhile purchase.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, you appear to get the 36,000 square feet by taking the 65,000 square feet you say you need for outside storage, and subtracting the amount you actually have at Chisholm.  So the implication is you have to make up that shortfall by storing stuff inside.  But are you actually using 36,000 square feet of building for storage?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  So the building is full now?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  By reference to your last question, it's the warehouse section that is full.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So you're using a significant portion of your building to store stuff that you could be storing outside, and in fact that you used to store outside, correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  That doesn't sound like a very cost-effective use of space.  Isn't there a cheaper way to store that stuff?  Couldn't you have found another outdoor yard?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Another building, an outdoor yard with square footage and acreage we required?  Is that what you're asking?

MR. RICHLER:  Well, what I'm really asking is whether it's absolutely imperative that the outside storage space be at the same location as your admin space.

I understand from the previous slides that some other utilities separate those areas.  They’ve got one office and then they’ve got somewhere else where they have outside storage.

So couldn't you have an office building and then had one or more other yards where you keep stuff in storage?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's not an efficient operation to have trucks in one location and part of the inventory in one location, have the crews pull out, go to a second yard and load up again with the remaining equipment.  That's all downtime.  That's not productive time.

It's much easier and much more efficient to have the trucks load up for the day and go out to their job site once.  So to have a second storage, it still has to be paid for, but it's not an efficient and effective way to operate the business.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you just elaborate on that a little more?  I'm not sure I understand why you can't have an outside storage facility where all the workers go in the morning, load up, and go out to their jobs.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Are you referring to a second building, an operations centre that would have --


MR. RICHLER:  Well, that's my question.  Do you need
-- is it possible to have an outside storage space with no building, or does it need to be connected to some physical building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, it wouldn't be feasible to have outside storage without a building.  We would still be housing our vehicles, our line trucks, trailers and equipment in one location, and then driving up and having a storage person at the second location to load up the trucks and trailers with additional equipment to begin their work for the day.

It's much more economical to have them loaded up in one location, and everybody pulls out at the same time.

You look perplexed.  What I'm saying is we have our trucks in one location, and you're referring to a storage yard without a building.  So the trucks have to leave one compound and drive to a second compound.  There would have to be a person on-site for that compound to load their trucks, be it a storage person, and then they would leave.

Whereas the way we're set up, and I think you'll find from the pictures, the aerial pictures we took of the other utilities, they have their building and storage yard at the same location, and it would be for similar reasons.  It is much more efficient to load up once and go to a job site.

MR. RICHLER:  But some utilities do separate those areas.  For example --


MR. MCKENZIE:  That depends on the size of the service area and I can give you an example, if you like.

MR. RICHLER:  Sure.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Horizon Utilities service St. Catharines.  So they have an office building and service centre in St. Catharines.  They have an office building and an area where they keep some of their trucks downtown, on John Street, and they also have another service centre up on the mountain, which also houses a building and their trucks and their inventory, and their stores keepers.

So they have, yes, three locations.  But they also have buildings and people and staff running those.  They don't have an empty yard where they go to load up.

MR. RICHLER:  Could you have continued to use Fifth and Main for outside storage, or at least some portion of it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We could have.  We made the decision that it was not economical again to have an empty yard, and this is what we found when we were on Lawson Road.  We had two yards.  And it was more efficient to have everyone located in one spot and leaving one spot at the same time.

MR. RICHLER:  Have you made any efforts to rent any portion of the property, or do you feel that it's even feasible to rent any portion of the property?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we have not looked at renting.  The only area that would possibly be rentable would be the 5,000 square feet.  However, it would require some work in order to get separate and private access to that area.  The only access to that area now is to go through the office building itself, or up the back stairs of the warehouse.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know how much --


MR. MCKENZIE:  There's also no washroom facilities in that area.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know how much approximately it would cost to add washrooms and make whatever other improvements would be necessary to rent out that space?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We don't have a number, because it wasn't something we looked at, but it is a concrete building, so adding washrooms means drilling through the concrete, additional plumbing, lighting fixtures.  Right now it's an open space.  There's no ceiling.  The floor is just a concrete painted floor, so there'd be a considerable amount of work to renovate that into a feasible area for somebody else to rent or...

MR. RICHLER:  And let's just say you did rent out that 5,000 square feet and/or some other portion of the building.  Do you have a sense of what the going rate is for rent in this area of Milton?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Between 6.50 and $7 a square foot, and that would come from the listing that we provided.

MR. RICHLER:  Right, which is in your presentation.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And that says $6.75 per square foot.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And as far as you know, the rental market for commercial industrial property in Milton hasn't changed significantly since this listing was issued?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  That 6.75 also, if you note right underneath it, the additional rent is to be -- would be to be determined if there was anything additional.  So that's probably the floor, the base level.

MR. RICHLER:  I'm not sure I know what that means, the additional rent.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's the way it was listed.  It was our understanding that would just -- and from right now, looking at it, would be something that would be to be calculated.  And it may include things like property taxes and that that would be associated with the rental space.  That's -- okay, that's just my taking on the spot today.

MR. RICHLER:  Fair enough.

Mr. Chair, I have no more questions, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, I just have a couple of the follow-up questions just trying to get these square footages straight in my head.

Now, am I right that the total square footage of the building is 91,818 square feet?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, 91,828, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  828, sorry.  And then you in your presentation yesterday, I understand you to be allocating 32,800 feet of that to administration?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct, 32,800 square feet.

MR. THOMPSON:  And am I right that of that there's 5,000 square feet held for future use?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's basically the empty building that show -- the empty space that shows in the picture.

MR. MCKENZIE:  At the top at the back, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the future use could be as long as ten years off.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Five to ten years is what we...

MR. THOMPSON:  And so my question is:  Should the ratepayers be paying for 5,000 square feet held for future use?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We look at it from the perspective in our search, our four-year search, we found the building, and, yes, it's 91,800, it's a little bit larger than we need by the 5,000 square feet, but the cost of the building is considerably lower than if we had to go out and construct a building, so based on the total cost of the building we feel it was a prudent investment.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you're saying you have got more than you need but you got it cheaply?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct, by the 5,000 square feet.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it's still -- in terms of used and useful, it's waiting to be used and useful?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And just for my edification, if the Board were to back that out in some fashion of your rate base, would you be able to calculate the revenue requirement related to the 5,000 square feet of this total project?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I think I could, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could we have an undertaking for that, please?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We know what it cost to renovate it, the 100,000 to bring it up to fire code, but leaving it empty, so I think, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well...

MR. RICHLER:  We'll mark that Undertaking J2.3, I think we're at.  Does my count line up with yours?  Thanks.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO CALCULATE THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT RELATED TO THE 5,000 SQUARE FEET OF THIS TOTAL PROJECT.

MR. LASOWSKI:  What was 2, if we can ask, please?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I have J2.1.  I don't have -- sorry, listed of J2.2.

MS. CORKUM:  That was changed to J1.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I think that was the one that was changed to J1.13 to tie in with the OM&A per customer on a go-forward basis.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So then this latest request for the revenue requirement would be J2.2?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's the numbering I have, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then going -- moving forward, the other component of this building is 59,028 square feet, if I'm reading the evidence correctly; is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Which, you allocate that to operations?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you show requirements for operations of 37,000 square feet.  Are you actually using 37,000 for operations or some lower number?  Does this consist of operations and storage space, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's in total, yes, it combines the storage and where the trucks are.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what is your allocation for operations?  Is it 37,000, or are you actually using -- planning to use something less than that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  59,000 less the 36,000 we're using for storage now...

MR. LASOWSKI:  Twenty-three.  It's over 23.

MS. CORKUM:  Less what?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would be about 23,000 that we're using for the operations side, which would be where the buildings are --


MR. THOMPSON:  And so that is --


MR. MCKENZIE:  -- lockers.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so that leaves 36,000 for storage?  Inside storage.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  What's the -- how long do you expect the -- what was the first number you gave me, 20?

MR. MCKENZIE:  23,000.

MR. THOMPSON:  How long is that going to take you?  Is that going to last you 10 years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's expected, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then we've got 36,000 square feet of inside storage, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that, in terms of its rate base value, it's including 36,000 square feet of a renovated building, right?  And land?  Is the land in rate base, or just the building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The land was purchased in 2014, so it would be in rate base, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  It goes into rate base?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that will have a cost per square foot.  That $59,028 will have a cost per square foot that includes land and a renovated building, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The renovations for the back portion, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so my question is if -- what is the -- let me back up.  You have outside storage of -- the number is in here somewhere.

MR. MCKENZIE:  29,000.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's land only?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so is there some way we can calculate the cost per square foot of the land?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm sorry, what is your question?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The cost of the 29,000?


MR. THOMPSON:  I’m trying to get a cost for outside storage.  Basically, what you've done is you've bought inside storage, which I think is more expensive than outside storage.  So I'm trying to get a number for the outside storage.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We can get a number.  We know the size and we know the work we had to do to pave it, so we could use it is for storage.  So we could determine a cost of that 29,000 square feet.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you do that, please?

MR. RICHLER:  That's J2.3.


MR. THOMPSON:  And could you determine the cost of the inside storage, including land and building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'm sorry?

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you determine the cost of the inside storage, which would include land and building, on a square foot basis?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We'll put this all in one undertaking.  And let's assume that the cost of the inside storage is more expensive than the cost of the outside storage.  Should ratepayers be paying any more than the cost of outside storage for what you have decided to bring inside?

MR. MCKENZIE:  From that point, it's important for the Board to understand that we had to vacate Lawson Road by the end of 2015, that we had a search on the go and this was the only building, the feasible building we found that would suit our requirements.  And yes, we calculated 5,000 square feet of empty space in the top.

But because our storage area happens to be covered because it's a warehouse is not a decision -- it's a decision we made, but it was based on the feasibility of the building that became available to us.

So yes, it would be more expensive, but it wasn't a decision that we had to have it outside.  There wasn't any other area where we could move to.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Could I get an undertaking then for those numbers you're going to calculate for me?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's J2.3?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, J2.3 for the outside and inside.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  I want to follow up on Mr. Thompson's question.  I was going to ask a very similar question, and I did have some numbers here.

According to my calculations -- and you can check that -- the 36,000 square feet that you are using for inside storage represents about 40 percent of the total building.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would be approximately, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  If you translate that using your own $158 per square foot, that is about $5.7 million, the cost of that inside storage space.

MR. MCKENZIE:  The cost of the 36,000 square feet?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, using that $158 per square foot that you do have in --


MR. MCKENZIE:  The $158 also includes the renovations that were required for the front office portion, for the two floors.  So that's the total building cost; that's not just the warehouse cost.

DR. ELSAYED:  But is that not applicable to the area that you are using for inside storage?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No.  The first and second floor renovations were just over 4 million for the two floors.  The back portion renovations that we had to come in and ready for storage was substantially less.  I don't have a cost per square foot for the back of the building, for the warehouse area.

DR. ELSAYED:  So is it part of the undertaking that you had to provide --


MR. MCKENZIE:  Yeah.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- the actual cost --


MR. MCKENZIE:  For the 36,000 square feet.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- for the 36,000, and the cost of that same area if you would have used outside storage?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  That's part of the undertaking for Mr. Thompson.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And did you -- just to confirm did you say you had looked and could not find any other facility that had sufficient outside storage?

MR. MCKENZIE:  A building and land, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  A building and land, or land where you could build a building.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, and we did provide a slide in this deck that showed some of the properties we did look at, and the issues we had with getting locations, severances and -- if you’d like, I can take you back to that slide and we could just --


DR. ELSAYED:  No, that's okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  There's a fair bit of property around the outside, but developers weren't prepared to sever off what we needed.  They're looking for big box and industrial areas -- not so much industrial, but warehousing.  There is a lot of warehousing space in Milton, in fact the street behind our building.  But they're leasing out 400,000 square feet and that's of course not what we were looking at.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the slide where you compared yourself to other utilities, at the top part of the slide, you have included the inside storage as part of the total area.  And then in the bottom part, you've deducted that.  I'm assuming you did that to be able to compare apples to apples?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Do you know whether the other utilities had inside storage as well?

MR. MCKENZIE:  From their yards and what we visited, most of their storage would be outside, and they have the acreage outside to do it.

DR. ELSAYED:  So they wouldn't have a similar area, I guess, or even an area inside that would be equivalent to what you would use as inside storage, to be able to actually compare properties.

MR. MCKENZIE:  They would have that outside.

DR. ELSAYED:  Everything would be outside?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, and of course there is inside storage.  A lot of utilities, ourselves included, will keep copper inside, for example.  It's very subject to theft a lot of types, so things like copper.  And then we have our stores bins, which is the small material which would go on the trucks.

But the larger material that we have inside would normally be outside, and that would be the case for most of the utilities.

DR. ELSAYED:  Are you aware of any other utility that would use the percentage of storage inside as you do in this building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we're not aware.  And where we visited a couple utilities, they have the acreage outside and they have their storage outside.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  These are all my questions.  I suggest we take a 10-minute break just to assess the situation, and then we will come back and determine what the next steps are.  So we will resume, let's say, at five after eleven.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, Mr. Shepherd.  I hope you're feeling okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm a little doped up, but I'll be fine.  It will make my cross-examination more interesting.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So I'm assuming you've been briefed.  I guess -- we've gone through the other cross-examinations by the parties, so yours is the only remaining one.  So if you're okay, I guess we would start with that now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm ready to go, Mr. Chairman.  And I can tell that you my current estimate is that I should be done by lunch.  Assuming lunch is like one o'clock, I should be done.  I have a compendium of materials, all materials that are on the record; if we could give that an exhibit number.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll mark that as Exhibit K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SEC FOR MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION PANEL 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I've also filed with the Board full-sized copies of the floor plans.  There are three pages -- I think you may have them -- which are the Lawson Road floor plan and then the two floors of the Chisholm floor plan.  And although they are in the evidence now, it may be that it's useful to give them an exhibit number.  Or exhibit numbers, perhaps.

UNIDENTIFIED MALE SPEAKER:  [Off-mic]  There are three of each, right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's three of each, yes.  And there are two colour copies for the Board.  Colour copies were $19 each, so we didn't get as many.  And then there's some black-and-white copies.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Shepherd, just to clarify, how many different drawings are there?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There are three drawings.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first drawing is Lawson Road.  So this is --


MR. RICHLER:  Oh, I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- (inaudible) but the first drawing is Lawson Road --


[Audio interference]


UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE SPEAKER:  Sorry.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So we'll call the Lawson Road drawing K2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  LAWSON ROAD DRAWING.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2.4?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was 3?

MR. RICHLER:  Oh, sorry.  K2.3 is Lawson, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the other two are floors one and two of Chisholm.

MR. RICHLER:  So 4 is floor one of Chisholm.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  FLOOR ONE OF CHISHOLM.

MR. RICHLER:  And 5 is floor two of Chisholm; is that right?
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  FLOOR TWO OF CHISHOLM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to start -- and I suspect my first questions here are for you, Mr. McKenzie.  I want to start with the impact of moving to the new building on the ratepayers.

And so we asked a side-by-side comparison of all occupancy costs.  You'll see this as page 2 of our materials.  This is in your first responses to our information request.  Side-by-side comparison of occupancy costs, including capital costs, depreciation, et cetera.

Now, you'll agree with me that this comparison does not include the costs associated with capital, it only -- it includes the OM&A component of costs; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on the OM&A side then, your cost for old occupancy was $552,891 a year.  And your cost with the new structure is 467,634; is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, then we wanted to see, well, what's the rest of the revenue requirement, and we asked you for that, and you gave us your -- a calculation of your revenue requirement before and after, but you gave us no details, right?  You didn't show us how you calculated it.

MR. MCKENZIE:  There was some assumptions, I believe, in the response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't provide your math?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we just, we provided the assumptions that we used to determine the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the conclusion?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm going to actually take you through the components of the capital and ask you to agree to some numbers.  And you may want to agree to these subject to check.  It's correct, isn't it, that the old land was in your rate base at 1,109,265?  That's the land at Main and Fifth?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's gone now, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would have -- so under the new scenario you don't have that cost, and that cost is the cost of debt and cost of equity and PILs associated with that equity for that eleven-oh-nine, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is no longer there, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And will you accept subject to check that that's $83,365?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I can't confirm that, but I can look at it and check again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm just, I'm going to walk you through these numbers.  I know you haven't had a chance to do the math.  But I'm going to walk you through them because I want to get to a number that looks like it's roughly correct.  So 83,365 is not too far off, is it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  We'll use your numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  Now, you have new land, and the new land that is in rate base is 5 million-and-something, right?  Five million-and-eighty-one?  Five million-one-eighty-one?  Is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The new land was 4,040,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here we are -- if you look at page 4 of our materials, this is your continuity schedule, and the land is five million-one -- oh, no, you're right, $4,072,787; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct, there was some existing land.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, there was some existing?  And how much was that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's substation, about 32,000, the difference between the four --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Four-oh-seven-two and the four --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Close enough.  So the cost that -- again, this is just land, so there's no depreciation, so the cost under the new scenario of the land at Chisholm is going to be roughly $300,000 a year?  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  300,000 a year?  Over what time period are you -- like, I'm not following --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Each year.  So you have debt, you have equity, you have PILs on the equity.  Those total roughly 7.5 percent; isn't that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  So what did you say the value --


MR. SHEPHERD:  300,000 a year is what it costs you to have that land.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  You're saying that's capital debt and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Debt equity and PILs on the equity.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Grossed-up equity, if you like.  It's what the ratepayers paid for the land each year.  Okay?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, then you have the building.  Now, the building has three components, right?  It has depreciation, and I look at page 5 of our materials and I see the depreciation on the building is small, but it's there, and maybe you can confirm, is $209,200 a year?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have as well debt and equity on the -- debt and ROE, grossed-up ROE, on the building, and the building is ten million-four-sixty, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I calculate that to be $995,000 all in, all three of those numbers.  Will you accept that subject to check, which as it happens is very close to the 10 percent thumbnail that we normally use?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  So that -- you're saying that's the total of the eighty-three-three?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no, this is the total of the depreciation on the building, the cost of debt on the building, and the grossed-up cost of the equity on the building, building only, $995,000 a year.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, I'm missing -- I must be missing a number then, because you said 83,365 was for the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about that.  I'm talking about the building only.  The new building --


MR. MCKENZIE:  Building -- building by itself?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Chisholm.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  10,460,000, you have three costs associated with that in 2016 in your application.  You have a cost for depreciation, you have a cost for debt, and you have a cost for grossed-up equity.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those three numbers totalled $995,306, according to me.  Does that sound about right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I would have to check everything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you're not going to admit that it's even in the ballpark?  Have you ever done this calculation?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, I was just going to refer to the revenue requirement that we put -- we also provided as part of this that does show some of the capital cost, the changes and the impacts on PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, and it doesn't come up to the right number; that's why I'm going through it.  You didn't show us the calculation and you didn't get the right number, so that's why I'm going through this.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So fine.  You also had to buy new furniture for this place, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was $400,000.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It actually came in a little bit less, but in the neighbourhood, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, $400,000 is what's in your application, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I believe it was updated --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  But it is close enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Close enough.  So I get 70,000 for the furniture; 10 percent depreciation 40,000, plus debt and equity.  I get $70,000.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the total I get for the old costs -- the old costs were only the 552 that you've given us and the 83,000 for the old land.  The old costs total $636,256; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 552?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, plus the 83.

MR. MCKENZIE:  What's the 83?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For the old land at Lawson and Main.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right?  And the new costs I get $1,838,000, which is the 467 plus the new land, plus the building, plus the furniture.  That adds to 1,838,000.  Will you accept that that's at least in the ballpark?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is why -- by the way, can I just ask a quick question about this?  If you look at page 5 of our materials, you'll see in the additions in 2016 $809,000 of communications equipment.  Does that have something to do with the new building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's the WiMAX system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I didn't think it was, but I wanted to check.

So here's what I get.  I get old costs, 636,000 for occupancy, new cost 1,838,000, so a-million-two increase, which is a 7.4 percent rate increase.  Were you aware that that was the case?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we hadn't done those calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Lasowski, did you know in going to this new building, you were going to ask your ratepayers to have a 7.4 rate increase just for the building?

MR. LASOWSKI:  As Cameron said, we did not do the calculation.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We were in a situation where we did not have an alternative choice but to move out of Lawson Road.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I -- and we're going to pursue that as well.  I wanted to make sure that we understood whether you even knew how much you were asking your ratepayers to pay extra for this new building.

All right.  I want to go to your presentation, Mr. Lasowski, and just ask a few questions.  This is your slide 4 on page 6 of our materials.  You recognize this?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We even reproduced them in colour, so they would look nice.

And you eventually came down to only two options, right, which is build a new building at your existing property at Fifth and Main, or buy Chisholm?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when did you reach that conclusion?

MR. LASOWSKI:  In 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you started looking in 2010, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  In 2010, we suspected that the delivery of the hard servicing at Fifth and Main would not be available in the timeframe initially indicated to us, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you owned Fifth and Main in part because you thought that was going to be your new head office, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was just a storage facility.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, it was a storage facility because we could not build at the time.  We were using as a storage facility.  However, the intent was that we would look at building our office at Fifth and Main.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then by 2010, you realized this may be a problem and you’d better look for other options, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  At 2010, we were concerned that the delivery of the hard servicing would not be in time with the expiry of our lease at Lawson, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had two choices, lease a facility -- in effect, move again from Lawson to a new leased facility while you waited for that land to be serviced, or choose another option -- forget about Fifth and Main and have another option, right?  That was basically your choice?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, we -- one of the other impacts on Fifth and Main was that we recognized the acreage we had at 6.4 would have been insufficient.  So we were trying to negotiate with the corner property at -- literally at the corner of Fifth and Main.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You mentioned something about Hydro One.  Is that a Hydro One property?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, the Hydro One -- as you can see on that slide that’s up there now -- is the adjacent property to it.

So you’ve got a corner property which is privately owned.  You’ve got our parcel of land, and then you had Hydro One on both sides of our property.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had to either get some land from Hydro One -- and they said no, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or get that corner property?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The minimum was -- yes, we actually tried to get both.  We actually tried to get land from Hydro One and the corner property.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But basically, both didn't work out?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You could have got the corner, but you would have had to over-pay in effect for it.  And it would have cost you what, an extra few hundred thousand dollars?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Potentially.  We know what number we offered and they turned down.  We're not sure what number they would have settled on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the difference wasn't millions.  The difference was hundreds of thousands, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, what I don't understand is why the only viable option was 200 Chisholm, which was not a good option as you talked about earlier.  Milton is a fast growing place.  There's lots happening, there’s new businesses coming in there all the time, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not all 500,000 square feet?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you have a problem and other businesses are getting in there all the time?

MR. LASOWSKI:  One of the differences between what we need and what is typically being built in Milton is a requirement of office space and storage.  Our ratio of space is not consistent with either distribution warehousing, which is predominantly the big thing in Milton, or pure office space.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were sought of caught in the middle; you're like a hybrid?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We're a hybrid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So faced with that problem, you said, okay we need -- we need 63,000 square feet inside, and we need 65,000 square feet outside; is that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm just looking at this 26,000 and 37,000 you have here.  Is that your need, or is that -- did you do some sort of plan to say this is what we actually need?

MR. LASOWSKI:  What we ended up doing was going out to neighbouring utilities to see what they were using based on their staff and operations, and then scaled it down to what we were sort of looking at doing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you do like a study, or analysis, or something like that?  Because we asked for those and you said you didn't have any.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, we didn’t.  Actually, we just used those references, but didn't do any particular studies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You never wrote anything down?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm sorry, what do you mean wrote?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You went out and gathered a bunch of information on other utilities, and you never wrote it down?  Nobody ever did a spreadsheet saying, well, okay, if this is what other people are doing, then here’s the calculations for what we should do.  Nobody ever did that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Not in spreadsheet format, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or in written format of any sort?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm taken aback a little bit.  You're talking about spending $15 million.  You spent $15 million, and nobody sent a memo to anybody saying here’s my analysis?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Okay, maybe I'm not following.  You're saying relative to other people?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying how you decided what you needed is you went and talked to other people, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at some point, somebody must have distilled that information into an analysis what that meant for you; didn't that happen?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We did do a calculation of saying the space requirements for offices and work stations added up to approximately that kind of numbers.  But that was based on a number that was gleaned from other information.  We didn't actually go and tabulate -- that’s why I'm not sure if I follow your question.  We didn't tabulate everybody's numbers and say this is exactly what they use.

As we were visiting, we were getting approximations from the utilities saying roughly this is what we allow for work stations, here’s what we allow for offices, and we came back and did our estimation of what our numbers would be based on those estimations.  We never actually calculated what the average was and what the exact size of each facility was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you then write down your calculation somewhere?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, where is it?  Because we've asked for it several times now and we haven't seen it.

MR. LASOWSKI:  The information that we provided in relocation committee is what we have.  I believe --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just the relocation committee minutes, that's it.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now the 26,000 square feet for admin, how many people is that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It was envisioned that that would get us sufficient space for ten to 15 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's then enough space for 100 people, roughly?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Not quite.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your evidence yesterday was that Ms. Corkum's evidence yesterday was that in 2031 you expect to be at 113 people total, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So ten, 15 years is sort of a 100 range, right?  And right now you have -- in admin you have 40.

MR. LASOWSKI:  In admin today?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then in operations you have here 37,000, and that's -- operations isn't offices, right?  Some of it is offices, but some of it is also, you know, workshops and things like that, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would include your fleet garage and stuff like that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And where did you get the 37,000 number?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Again, based on different visitations with other utilities and a feel for what we had and what we saw as growth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you had -- your space at Lawson, how big was that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe we said approximately 40,000 square feet.  I believe it was around 40,000 square feet, but let me just verify.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you just estimate how much was admin and how much was operations?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Probably about 40 percent office and 60 percent operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're talking about 16 and 24?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your optimum choice was to increase those by 50 percent or so?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Given those numbers, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you actually did instead was that you more than doubled it.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, I would say we more than doubled in our office, but our operations did not double.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm looking at your option, your second option here, and it says 59,000.  59,000 is more than twice 24,000.

MR. LASOWSKI:  If you grant the inside storage, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the only reason that it's not a comparable number is because you had to have this inside storage.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Did you ever do -- prior to buying Chisholm, did you ever do a space plan, where you sit down and you say, okay, here is how many people, here's the types of jobs they have, here is what resources they need, here is how we would lay that out if we built new, if we bought another place, et cetera?  Did you ever do that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, it was envisioned that if we were going to build we would do it at that time.  When we did buy Lawson we actually had the architect play out the information at Chisholm, so it was always envisioned that once we knew exactly where we were going we would do that layout.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me in that -- in the 65,000 outside storage how much of that was employee parking?

MR. LASOWSKI:  None.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well -- so you didn't have land for -- you didn't contemplate that you had to have land for employee parking?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Oh, we did, but the outside storage place was reserved for literally outside storage of equipment, not parking, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's equipment, parking, and that's inventory.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then your land requirements are actually more than the outside storage requirement there.  I was thinking it was the building footprint plus the outside storage, but you actually have to have other land as well, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's why 7.7, which is what you were going to have at Fifth Line and Main, even that was tight?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Was this -- we're talking about an investment of $15 million, roughly.  Is it -- this isn't the biggest ever purchase that Milton Hydro has ever done, is it?  Or is it?  I'm wondering if you did a transformer station at some point that was bigger.

MR. LASOWSKI:  We had Hydro One build a transformer station --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, that's not the same.

MR. LASOWSKI:  -- for us -- yeah, the station --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just send us the bill.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is your biggest purchase.

MR. LASOWSKI:  In my history, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, probably ever, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I would assume, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then I want to go to the next page of our -- no, the next page of our material's actually the options you considered, and unless you want to add something, I just included this in case something came up, but I want to go to page 8 of our materials, which is your slide 10.  And this is your comparison.  Now, this is done after the fact.  You didn't actually do this at the time, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, this is after the fact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  This is for this proceeding, you've done this comparison to see whether it makes sense what you did, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what you did is you looked at other utilities, and the other utilities have a whack of outside storage space -- that's a technical term -- and even your better option for outside storage, the one that you couldn't proceed with, was not even close to what they had.  Is that because of the size of the utilities, or is that just because you didn't have options that were really big enough?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The 65,000 square feet was our estimation of what we would could live with based on what we had at Lawson and Fifth and Main for outside storage.  And as you said, this was done after the fact.  We didn't realize probably at the time that we actually were about half of what other people were using.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that amount, that need for outside storage, that doesn't scale exactly with the size of the utility, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  See, what I'm -- the conclusion I'm reaching here is that, no matter how you slice it, all the options that you were looking at were too small.  The buildings weren't, but the land that you were looking at was too small in each case.  Is that a reasonable conclusion for the Board to draw, that even this land that you have now is too small?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The -- I don't know if I would classify it as too small.  It certainly wasn't ideal.  I'm not sure I would classify it as not workable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your solution for the small amount of outside storage in 200 Chisholm was to move your inventory inside, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yet you're still parking the equipment outside.

MR. LASOWSKI:  The vehicles?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, they're inside.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, they're inside too.  What's outside now?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Our transformers, basically anything that has liquid material that would potentially be flammable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for safety purposes some things have to be outside.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- but for example, do you have pole inventory?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's outside as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's outside.  Okay.  I was going to say.  Very well-treated poles.

And have you done an analysis of the costs and benefits of that solution?  So you had this solution to your outside storage problem, which is, we're going to move this stuff inside.  Did you then do an analysis and say, well, that's going to cost us this much money.  We're actually going to get some benefits because things are not going to be as weathered as they were in the past, and they will be more accessible, blah, blah, blah.  Did you ever do that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, and probably because there was no alternative to sort of compare it to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, if we did it, what do you compare it to?  Like, if we had maybe two properties or two options to look at, it might have been worthwhile saying, can we do this.  We really didn't have an alternative to Chisholm with the space requirements that had to go inside.  It would be, A, somewhat subjective to try to come up with a number of what that savings would be on inventory that was stored inside versus outside, and part of the reason would be is if we did come up with a number, how do we define it compared to something that we might have had as option B.


In this case, the only two sort of options we looked at is would we build at Fifth and Main, or would we buy Chisholm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You weren't forced to move everything inside.  That was your choice, right?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, we were in -- in the perspective of moving to Chisholm, the only option we had was either, as we discussed before you came in earlier, the option would have been to say let's try to find outside space somewhere else.  And that would come back to an efficiency perspective of whether we really wanted to have two sites that were trying to maintain inventory.


The other alternative could have been -- and it certainly wouldn't be a prudent one -- is we could have demolished part of the roof and made it all outside storage space, but that would have cost us even more money.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if Chisholm had zero outside space, then you would have had to do some sort of analysis, because some things couldn't safely be put inside, right?


MR. LASOWSKI:  It might not have been an option.  We might have had to rule Chisholm out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would have ruled it out?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then if it's too costly to keep things inside, wouldn't that also rule it out?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Except that you would have to look at the comparison of what the whole property is costing us as a building rather than just the storage component.


So when we looked at what the whole property of Chisholm -- inside, outside, and storage -- compared to alternatives, it was still a viable solution.  So we looked at the whole building, not just components of each one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  Let's go to page 9 of our materials.  This is the listing of Chisholm?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually went there and took a look.  It's a nice building; it really is a very nice building.  How much parking do you have there, by the way?  How many parking spots?


MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe we -- I think it was a hundred and some odd parking spots.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is parking there?  I was there and it was full.  You only have 61 people.  How could your hundred parking spots be full?


MR. LASOWSKI:  They're not full.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was.  I was physically there, and it was full.  There was one spot that I could get in visitors.


MR. LASOWSKI:  In visitors.  But there must have been employee parking spots that were --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was full.


MR. LASOWSKI:  I don’t know what day you were –


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not normally?


MR. LASOWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe it was a special day.


MR. LASOWSKI:  It could have been meetings and stuff.  I mean contractors, we still have some contractors finishing work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, this is the original listing.  Do you know what date this is?


MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe it was sometime in 2014.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is -- in 2014?  I thought Chisholm was listed earlier than that.


MR. LASOWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Okay.  So you see the rental rate of 675, and then there’s additional rent as well when you rent out space like this, which is what typically?  Five or six dollars a square foot?


MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure.  We never did ask what that would be and never pursued it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I ask that is because if that's the sort of rent that is charged in Milton at the time, surely one of your options was to rent.  I didn't see anywhere here where you reviewed renting.  I'm looking at this and thinking that at 6.75 a foot, that's $600,000 a year.  And you're instead talking about a million odd.


MR. LASOWSKI:  As you said, if that was an additional five or six dollars a square foot, you would be up to 1.2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you wouldn't actually because at $12 a foot, if what you really needed was inside space that was 63,000, that's still only $700,000.


MR. LASOWSKI:  I would have to lease the whole building.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You wouldn't need to lease this building.  There's lots of buildings to lease, isn't there?


MR. LASOWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't look, did you?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Actually we did not seriously look, because we had indicated in our rate submission in 2011 that we were going to build at Fifth and Main.


But as we were looking at different properties, there was people who said they might be willing to do it, but again it would have been a modification because the requirements of office and warehousing were not a typical building.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The requirements of office and warehousing are not a typical building?


MR. LASOWSKI:  The ratio that we needed, what we talked about a little earlier.  The ratio of 40-60 is not typically available in buildings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you go to page 10 of our materials?  And this is -- what I want to ask you about is -- and I'm not going to talk about how you changed from your application.  I assume that was covered already.


But I do want to talk about this 44,000 square feet that was renovated.  So I'm not sure why you renovated 44,000 when you didn't need that much office space.


MR. LASOWSKI:  The 44,000 also includes the space that was renovated for the operations areas, which are listed there as the meter shop, locker rooms, the supervisors -- things that are associated with the operations group.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't renovate the warehouse?


MR. LASOWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was already in good shape.  It had the right loading doors, all that sort of stuff, right?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what you renovated was what is listed here is 43,618 offices, but is really offices plus OPS.


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that include the 5,000 upstairs you have empty.


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you renovated that?


MR. LASOWSKI:  We put the -- we shifted the wall from -- a firewall was required.  We shifted that wall from the limit before the 5,000 square feet to the outside.


MR. SHEPHERD:  An that cost you $100,000?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all you did to that space?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't do anything to the area you're using as storage?


MR. LASOWSKI:  We re-surfaced the floor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Repaved?  Is it paved?


MR. LASOWSKI:  It’s concrete.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Concrete.


MR. LASOWSKI:  It had machinery in it, and we had to take out the support brackets and everything else.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much that cost?


MR. LASOWSKI:  I can undertake to take it for you.  I don't know --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual cost doesn't matter, just an idea. I mean, is it ten dollars or a million?


MR. LASOWSKI:  How much?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it ten dollars or a million?


MR. LASOWSKI:  It’s probably about $100,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, not enough to worry about in this context.


So all right.  Part of what I don't understand here is why did you renovate the mezzanine.  You had 20,000 square feet on the ground floor already.  You were coming from 16,000.  Presumably, twenty should be enough for you.  Why would you renovate the mezzanine at all?


MR. LASOWSKI:  One of the things that we had at Lawson was a single floor.  Once we -- the building at Chisholm is a two-story, so we did lose some common space.  There was an atrium at Chisholm that was not available.


Because we were renovating a building, we had to go under the codes and now, for accessibility, we had to put an elevator in, we had to make washrooms a little bigger for accessibility.


So that 20,000 square feet, although it sounds like it’s 4,000 square feet more than what we had Lawson and we were very tight at Lawson, by the time we had to do some of the new requirements, we could not get everybody in those 20,000 square feet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you agree that you have more space than you need right now?


MR. LASOWSKI:  I have more space than I need.  Certainly the 5,000 square feet is surplus, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  We're going to go to your space plan.  You’ve got a lot in your office area that you don't need right now, right?  It's empty space.


MR. LASOWSKI:  There is some empty offices, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  I counted 18; does that sound about right?


MR. LASOWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we'll go through it.  I'm wondering why, in the course of this process, you didn't say okay, how can we do this renovation so that the extra space we have, whatever it is, is the most rentable.  Because as you say, it's hard to rent space in Milton, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is hard to rent space unique to our needs, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could have rented the office space if you'd renovated it with that in mind, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes, but keep in mind that to renovate space that's rental you would have to provide access for those people, you have to provide washroom facilities for those people.  That would take out space that would down the road potentially be of some cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they pay for that, right?  They pay rent on all that space?

MR. LASOWSKI:  They pay rent, but the expectation is that you would provide it.  I don't think anybody would rent space that didn't have washrooms or didn't have outside access.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  So you could have renovated for the same cost that you did, but instead of renovating so that you have this big empty space and a bunch of offices that are quite far apart because they're not full yet, you could have structured it so that you had a self-contained area that was still all renovated but was completely rentable, right?  You could have done that.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, except we would have to modify it because obviously under the current building-code requirements you need two exits.  We only had sort of two doors already, so we would have had to, yeah, try to come up with something, and in our estimation, as the one slide shows, we initially were looking for in total 128,000 square feet of building and outside space.  We only ended up 120,000.  We really didn't expect that we would have a lot of rental space.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you never did actually look at whether you could --


MR. LASOWSKI:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- design it so to be leased.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  All right.  I wonder if you could go to page 12 of our materials, which is one of your slides.  And this is your calculation -- this is your analysis of comparing your situation to other LDCs, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The part -- top part was provided by OEB Staff, and I did make the one modification to 30,000 square feet of admin space from office space.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm looking here and I'm seeing -- you're saying, well, let's pretend that the 36,000 is not in --


MR. LASOWSKI:  Oh, the bottom is mine, yes --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  -- I'm sorry, it was the top.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying, well, we look pretty bad, 1,493 square feet per FTE looks pretty bad.  How big is this room?  Is this about 1,500 square feet?  Is that about right?  I'm guessing that you had about this much space for every employee.

MR. LASOWSKI:  If you include all the warehouse spacing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that does seem like a lot.  So then you said, well, okay, let's get rid of the 36,000 that we're using for storage.  Let's pretend that's not inside.  It's still a big number.  And then you said, okay, let's get rid of the 5,000 that we're not using, even though we're paying for it.  Then you said, oh, and by the way, let's also on the last column -- let's move out to 2021.  And how many employees did you use there?  48?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, no, 69.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 69 point -- yeah, 69, but inside?

MR. LASOWSKI:  46.

MR. SHEPHERD:  46 inside.  But that's -- the actual numbers are the first one, right?  1,493 and 790.  Those are the actual numbers.

MR. LASOWSKI:  As the building sits today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then I -- if you could go to the next page, you did a comparison of cost.  And I'm looking to your comparison of cost and I'm saying, well, hang on a second, you're trying to include all the space when you're comparing the cost, you're not deducting 36,000 and 5,000 when you're doing the cost comparison.  And in fact, if you did that, wouldn't it be $285 per FTE -- or per square foot?  Will you accept that subject to check?  You did the same calculation.  You said, okay, our square footage per employee is now reasonable because we pretended this space is not there, but then you do that same calculation.  Doesn't that mean it costs you $285 a square foot for that space you said is all you should count?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Are you saying that if I take the costs of the building and divide it by the 36,000 square feet less than what was there?  I'm not sure what calculation you used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said what we should include is 55
-- sorry, 50,828.  That's what we should actually include, right?  And I'm saying, okay, use 50,828.  Doesn't that get you $285 a foot?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The calculation does, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And I want to go to the plans now.  And my first question is on the plans, is -- I'm starting with K2.3.  I should have been able to do with smaller documents, so I couldn't read them at all, so -- when I was younger I could, but not now.

This is Lawson, right?  K2.3 is Lawson.

MR. LASOWSKI:  This is the original drawing from Lawson, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you had 40 people in here, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is about 175 feet by, what, 85 feet?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, looks like it's 73 to me, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  73.  You're right.  That's weird.  30 plus 20 plus 23 -- anyway, it says 73.  That's fine.  And so then you were full, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And was there any operations in here, or was this only admin?

MR. LASOWSKI:  This was only admin.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where was operations?

MR. LASOWSKI:  If I can pull up Lawson.  Second slide, next one.  Okay.  So if you look at that building and this portion here, that is what you're looking at in the floor plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you weren't renting the whole building, right?  You were only renting --


MR. LASOWSKI:  No, we were renting a part, but the operations side was in this bigger building.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not a direct comparison to the other plans, because the other plans included admin and ops.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.  Unfortunately this is the only drawing we had from Lawson.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  So this is about 16,000 square feet?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess we can calculate it, right, the 175 by 73?  It's less, actually, it's 15,000.  Or less.  So -- and your lunchroom, for example, had room for what, 28 people, looks like?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, again, that's the layout.  We actually probably had a little -- roughly that room, but we also had a lunchroom for the outside staff in the operational area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Ah, okay.  So now I want to go to K2.4.  And this is the ground floor of Chisholm, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm noticing, for example, you have a lunchroom that has room for 70 -- I think it's 70 people?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is shown as potential seating for that.  That's not quite what the seating is, but, yes, we now only have one lunchroom.  We have now combined the operations and office lunchrooms into one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you actually then have a sliding wall there, so you have a training room which allows you to expand the lunchroom into a room that holds about maybe 100 people or 150, if you set it up as theatre style?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I will take your word for it.  I have not laid it out, but I'll take your word for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, somebody did, right?  I mean, somebody decided how big your training room should be?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, part of that was we were trying to maintain as much of the existing building as we can.  That was where the cafeteria was located.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many employees did the previous tenant have?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, the previous -- I don't know, but it was NewTech.  They would not have been a large employer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you added a bunch of office space they didn't have?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We renovated the whole office, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, I asked you yesterday -- I asked Mr. McKenzie yesterday, could you tell us what the dimensions of this is?  Because the other has dimensions, and this doesn't have dimensions.

MR. LASOWSKI:  The scale is 1 to 100.

MR. SHEPHERD:  1 to 100.   So can you tell us what the lengths are, how big these areas are?

MR. LASOWSKI:  If I can get a ruler, I can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it 1 inch to 100 feet?

MR. LASOWSKI:  One centimetre is one metre.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  We can measure it, that's fine.

This is certainly a lot bigger than Lawson, right?  This floor already, just the office on this floor not considering the other stuff, is significantly bigger than the Lawson facility.  And then you have another floor on top of it, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Okay.  The triangular portion, which is the office, is 10,000 square feet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's 10,000.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And this is another 15, say. This other area, the OPS area, is it 15 say.

MR. LASOWSKI:  It’s roughly 12; that's the area underneath the mezzanine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's 12,800.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to ask about a couple things on this.  These spaces -- like, for example, the exercise staff room, right -- you didn't have one before, did you?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's brand new, and that looks like it's probably -- I don't know, the size of this room?  Is that about right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It's smaller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Smaller than that.  Similarly, your change rooms and your washrooms, everything is lot bigger, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure.  Because the facility we were at Lawson Road was a manufacturing plant, the washroom and change room facilities at Lawson were probably larger than we have here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  But you have more washrooms now.

MR. LASOWSKI:  We have more wash rooms?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to ask about -- and I have a colour copy, and I hope the Board members have colour copies, too.  All these little red rectangles, that's people, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What are they?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, those rectangles were actually -- this was a furniture drawing, which sort of provided the best, so that really meant a seating arrangement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But where I see one of those, that's where you expect to have a person working right now?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas where I see something that says typical A or typical B, or whatever --


MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that's not a person.

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is a person.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that is a person.  I counted these up and got a whole lot more than 40 people.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Okay.  Those -- that’s what I'm saying.  That doesn't necessarily mean that there is a person in every one of those.

So when you looked at -- and I don't know how clear it is for everyone.  But looking at your drawing, if you see MS 4 or WSO 4, which is work station 4, and work station 5, work station 7, that is a work station.

So in that area, currently of those seven work stations that are shown, there is five people.  In your typical A, those three offices, there is a person in every one of those offices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we can't tell by looking at this where there are people and where there are not?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You could tell us.

MR. LASOWSKI:  I could tell you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not going to ask you to go through it right now, but I am going to ask you to undertake to provide us with a copy of this, telling us where there are people.

And where there are not people, so there are offices here where you don't have people in them yet, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  On this floor, there is no offices with nobody.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There are on the next floor.

MR. LASOWSKI:  On the second floor, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where there are not, have you if you furnished those yet?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The only furnishings that are in some of the ones on the second floor are -- some of them are being like a room that has a table with chairs around it.  So it could be used as a meeting room, or for example, for the auditors or outside people coming in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, if you have an empty office that you're going to fill in a couple years or 10 years, instead of having it empty, you put something relatively inexpensive in it so it's at least usable.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I get it.  Still on the first floor, I see the atrium.  The atrium was there already, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually looks quite nice, doesn’t it?  And there was a -- but you added the elevator?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you added the service desk?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The service desk is where people come in.  It is actually literally a counter where people come in to talk to the engineering group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it’s like reception?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There’s not a CSR there in the normal sense.  This is the receptionist?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, no, in the station that is sort of inside to the right is where the person would sit, and if someone came to that counter, she would go and deal with them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It that thing that says con, meeting room?

MR. LASOWSKI:  In the meeting-- so if you go to your right of where that conference meeting room is, it's engineering work station 122 A.  It's the U-shape; that's where that person would sit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So there is actually nobody in this front area normally?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is somebody over there in the work station that would then deal with that.

MR. LASOWSKI:  As people show up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As people show up, okay.  This triangular area in the middle, that's empty, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Not quite.  That is -- on the first floor is all the engineering.  So that's where we have our filing cabinets, we have our tables for drawings.  We do have space; it's not blank empty space.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's pretty empty; it's not full of --


MR. LASOWSKI:  It's not full.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not full.  Similarly, if you go up to the top, you see -- right at the top of the triangle, you see that big empty space where there's a few work stations and director of engineering, that's all room for more people. You could put more work stations in there.  You just don't have anybody yet, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  You mean literally from the last work station to the corner?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I'm talking about the space that looks like it’s about 10 or 12 feet from wall to wall.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Are you -- okay, maybe we’re -- are you talking about this space or this space?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Up above.

MR. LASOWSKI:  There?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There, yeah.

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's the employee entrances right there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then if you look at the OPS area, you see where it says in the middle CORR C 1.1.  That seems like a big open area.  That's not open, is it?  Or is it open?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Right next to the engineer space we were just talking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about right in the middle of the drawing, you'll see –

MR. LASOWSKI:  There?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Farther over, up.  See all that space in there?

MR. LASOWSKI:  This?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, and down.

MR. LASOWSKI:  This.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See where it says CORR C 1.1.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a big space; is that empty?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's a corridor, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s a corridor, just a big corridor?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you designed this, you designed it on the assumption that at some point in the future, you may need to have more people and you may need to infill some of your space, right?  You may need to put people in some of these open areas, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The area that you're talking about for corridor 1.1 --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. LASOWSKI:  -- that is intended to be for the operational side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  The architectural design was to provide some space with respect to the stairways and everything else.  We really did envision that that's where we would put more offices, if that's what you're asking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just, I'm looking at the doors and I'm thinking there's no doors into that space that are big, and so therefore you don't need a big corridor to bring big things through because you can't get them through the doors anyway.  So why would you design it so that it's so big?  Unless it's for future development?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The floor layout was done by an architect.  I think part of the restriction what he was -- and maybe doesn't show up as clearly on this drawing -- is that the mezzanine is the space that is shown, and when we enclose the mezzanine, that's where the wall showed up, as opposed to trying to enclose part of the mezzanine, so there is literally a wall on the first and second floor underneath this area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  I see.  I see.  Okay.  A bearing wall.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Okay.  So then I'm going to K2.5, and --

MR. RICHLER:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd, just -- sorry, before you move on, Mr. Chair, if you will permit, I just wanted to clarify for the record -- it wasn't clear to me

-- whether the witness has agreed to provide the last undertaking you requested, which was a copy of the floor-one floor plan with --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.

MR. RICHLER:  -- showing where there are actually workers?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Did you say yes to that undertaking?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yeah, actually, I can answer it very quickly on the first floor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would rather not take the time.  If you can just give us a copy of it that says, here is a person, here is a person, here is no person, like that.

MR. LASOWSKI:  You want it for both floors, obviously?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So that will be J2.4 for both -- a copy of the floor plans for both floors showing where there are actually people.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF FLOOR PLANS FOR EACH OF THE CHISHOLM DRIVE FLOORS SHOWING WHERE THERE ARE ACTUALLY EMPLOYEES

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then -- so I -- just quickly on this -- on the second floor, so the 5,000 square feet you're talking about is what you see in the middle here that says "future expansion", right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that wall on the right, that's the -- that was the existing firewall.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no.  Okay.

MR. LASOWSKI:  There was no existing firewall.  The existing firewall was back at the office.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  So you had to build firewalls on both floors and at the end, because otherwise it was only the triangle that was -- had a firewall.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all this additional -- the mezzanine and everything underneath the mezzanine, that's all your renovation.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It seems strange that you would build out so much of it and then have a big chunk that you didn't need.  Why didn't -- if this is all brand-new anyway, why wouldn't you just make it smaller on both floors?  I don't understand.

MR. LASOWSKI:  And I don't follow your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so you made 12,800 square feet on the ground floor and on the second floor, but you didn't actually need that much.  All you needed was probably five, if that.  So you could have done five on each floor and left the rest as part of the warehouse, right?  Why wouldn't you do that?  Wouldn't that be cheaper?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We would have had to -- we still would have had to put a firewall and we still would have had to put all the accesses in.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it just would have been a smaller space on both floors instead of having this big empty space.  Or alternatively, you could have taken it all the way to the other end on both floors and had a big rentable space, right?  Why didn't you do that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm sorry, I'm not quite sure -- when you -- like, the area underneath the mezzanine --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  -- is operational space that we needed for our meter shop and lockers and everything else.  Are you saying that we could have shrunk that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, or alternatively you could have extended the renovation right to the end so you had all of that part of the building on both floors and then rented half of it.

MR. LASOWSKI:  What do you mean, "the end"?  That is the end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, well, no, there's a whole bunch of building above it, isn't there?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Okay.  When you say "above" --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where are we, north, south, east, west?  Tell me which is north.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Are you talking about this space here?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, that is only one floor.  That is warehouse.  There is no mezzanine there.  This is the extent of the mezzanine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so it was an existing mezzanine.

MR. LASOWSKI:  This was existing mezzanine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it was a mezzanine that was in the warehouse.  It was -- so the firewall was on the other side?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Now I understand.  Okay.  And so this -- the second floor of the -- where the old mezzanine was, there's a fair bit of empty space, not just the 5,000, but there's also some open areas that just -- you don't need them yet, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  There is some open space, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then --

MR. LASOWSKI:  It's used for storage right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the boardroom -- how big is this boardroom?  Your old boardroom.  It doesn't look to be that much bigger, but your old boardroom held about, what, 16 people or something, and this one holds about 25, maybe?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yeah, the old boardroom was 940 square feet; this one is 1,100.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  All right.  That was fun.  So I just, I have one other question about the space plan itself.  And I just want to know whether you looked at this possibility.  What about -- did you consider keeping Main and Fifth for storage?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It was felt that it was a -- not as efficient to have in two locations.  Once we had the whole building laid out, we felt we could survive within just the property at Chisholm Road, and therefore we sold Fifth and Main.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your --

MR. LASOWSKI:  And -- and, sorry, Jay, but that is also why there is a revenue offset of 87,000 for the full five years in the cost-of-service application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just because we don't have to pay for that land any more.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, no, that was -- $87,000 was the gain on the sale of the property.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah, that --

MR. LASOWSKI:  It should have been for one year, but it's actually been given for all five years of the cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So when do you actually fill Chisholm?  When are you full and it's no longer big enough for you?  Let's talk people first.  We'll get to outside storage in a second.

MR. LASOWSKI:  If we assume that the number that we've projected turns out to be a reality, probably sometime 2030, mid-2030s.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it has enough room for you for 15 or 20 years.

MR. LASOWSKI:  In the building itself, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  You're going to run out of outside storage long before then, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure that is the case.  One of the things that I think we mentioned yesterday in dealing with OM&A, we are looking at, as part of the Good Smart Group, is whether we can do joint inventories, joint allocations of materials, and even potentially fleet, and therefore we may not need the outdoor storage space that some of the other utilities have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're hoping that you're going to be able to keep this solution, this outside storage, inside the building solution, for 15 or 20 years?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Did you consider the possibility of, instead of doing that, saying, okay, you know what, we're going to take our outside storage and we're going to put it somewhere else, and then we're going to have all this extra space in this building and we're going to rent half the building and save money.  Did you consider that?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, because -- well, I shouldn't say no.  I mean, we certainly felt that having a location for material and a location where the staff reported to was not the most efficient way of doing it.

We felt any efficiencies lost, regardless of the cost of both properties, we did not feel that was the most efficient way of doing it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do any formal analysis of that.  You simply -- it was sort of your judgment and, as it went along, you just reached that conclusion?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You're aware that in the electricity distribution industry right now there is a push to consolidation, and you're obviously a prime candidate, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure we are.  We should be, but I'm not sure if we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just thinking geographically.  It looks like, you know, with Halton Hills and Burlington building and Oakville and Guelph, and everybody all around you, at some point somebody is going to say, hey, wait a second, they should be all together, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We are pursuing alternatives to mergers and acquisitions, and doing joint services and everything else, as opposed to merging.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the effects of having a big new head office is that that increases the likelihood in a merger, the centre of the merged entity will be in your head office; isn't that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Depending on the territory you would pick, I mean, yeah.  And again, I mean, if you look at a comment that was made by Mr. McKenzie, if you have different service territories would you have multiple locations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I'm wondering whether this possibility that there would be a future M&A ever came up?

MR. LASOWSKI:  The direction from our shareholder was that they had no intent of selling the utility.  And based on the information we had, which was the best of our knowledge, that would not be a short-term solution.  It was not really considered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sort of asking -- I'm not asking whether you did this because of M&A.  I'm saying when you were deciding whether to make the biggest investment in the company's history, did you think, okay, let's look at how this plays out on a stand-alone basis and on a merged basis.  Did you ask that question?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Because the direction was that we were not going to merge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So at what point in this process -- I'm sort of moving towards the end here, but I just have a couple more general questions.


At what point in this process did you ask the question:  How do we keep the costs to the ratepayers down?  I'm not talking about the capital cost of the building. I'm talking about the overall cost, what they had to bear in rates.  At what point did you ask the question how do would do that, how do we keep that down?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I think we were looking at the most cost effective way of doing this.  But I think it's worth repeating that the option to stay at Lawson Road was not an option.  We had to vacate the premise, and we had to go somewhere.  And this was the best solution we had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you didn't consider the leasing solution, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, as I indicated to you, we had to make a decision back in 2011 when submitting our cost of service that we would build at Fifth and Main.  That was a decision.

Would we have ruled out something that would have met our needs exactly?  I don't know, but we didn't have a location that met our needs.  So it's a bit of a tough question to answer.  If you don't have the option, is it really an option.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, if I may interject for a second?  We do have a hard stop at about five to one.  We can obviously continue after the break, if you’d like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll speak fast.  Here is what I'm asking, sir.  I don't see anywhere in your documents where you put your mind to what are all our choices and how will they affect the ratepayers.

You didn't even know you were asking the ratepayers to pay $1.2 million more this year than they paid before for occupancy.  You didn't even know that.  I don't understand why.

This is a well-run utility.  Why didn't you ask the question?

MR. LASOWSKI:  We had to move.  So regardless of what option we picked, we knew there was going to be a cost associated with it.

It wasn't that we really had a lot of alternatives to look at.  And if you looked at the two options we really ended up with, which was shown on that slide, the option to build at Fifth and Main was more expensive than the option to go to Chisholm.  And we actually did go to the lower cost in view that it would cost the ratepayers less.

I didn't have option 3, 4 and 5 other than that, to say maybe this, or maybe this, or maybe that.  We were running into a time commitment that if we did not move, we would have been in no man's land where had to vacate and if we didn't have a place to move to, what would we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like crisis management.  I have sort of one more set of questions and this may be long, sorry about this, but the preamble matters to getting the question.

I would have thought -- we all know Milton is a well-run utility, so I would have thought that when you came in with this additional cost, one of the things you would have said is listen, we were in a difficult situation, it was a tight market, we didn't have many options.  In hindsight, we probably could have done it better, but we didn't.  And now we're in a situation where it's not a terrible solution and we still want to recover for the ratepayers; we don't think we should be penalized.

I would have thought you would have said that, and that's not what you said.  You haven't said that you did anything wrong.  And I don't understand because, in hindsight, surely you agree you could have done this better, don't you?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure that we could have, because I don't know what option existed out there that would have been better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you could have renovated differently so you could have rented the space.  You didn't do that.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, but there would have been a cost associated with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do the math, right?  You didn't look at it?


MR. LASOWSKI:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Looking back on how this unfolded since 2010 to now, can you see there were better ways that this could have been handled to either minimize the cost today or make more disciplined and careful choices?  It's actually not a trick question.

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, no, and I'm struggling because I don't know what else we would have been able to do, other than look to see if this building -- and again, we were looking at the broader picture as opposed to, you know, do we want to rent, do we want to do something else.

We were looking at the broader picture and saying we know what it would have cost to build at Fifth and Main.  This is a lower alternative.  We don't have time.  We don't have options.  We need to do something.  I believe we made the right decision.

It was based on that as opposed to saying, okay, if I try to lease space out -- and that's not our core business. If I try to lease space and keep Fifth and Main, deep down I'm not sure those would have been any better for the ratepayer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are our questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take our break now -- first of all any redirect, Mr. Sidlofsky, for your panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No questions, sir, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  I see in the revised hearing plan we have allowed just over two hours for a break.  Was that partly because of your need to prepare your argument-in-chief, Mr. Sidlofsky?  Or was that unintentional, I guess?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, sir.  In my copy of the hearing plan, I'm seeing an hour and a quarter for lunch and then argument in-chief.  So I don't think there was extra time set aside for that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Well, there was a revised plan.  But anyway, so --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm fine with -- I'm fine with the lunch break.

DR. ELSAYED:  So we will resume at two o'clock then, is that okay?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, it is.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:02 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I think as the last item on our agenda, over to you, Mr. Sidlofsky, for your argument-in-chief.
Argument-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  I do plan to be brief this afternoon, sir.

As the Board is well aware, the parties reached a settlement on most of the issues in the proceeding, and to Milton Hydro's knowledge there is only the issue of the treatment of bill impacts on the sentinel lighting customer class that's outstanding there, aside from the LRAM VA issue that's being dealt with generically.

As I had mentioned yesterday, our proposal is that if parties can't come to terms on the treatment of bill impacts for the sentinel lighting class, then Milton Hydro would file its submission by Friday, April 8th, and that will still give the parties time to respond to that submission and for Milton Hydro to reply to that submission by the revised dates for intervenors and Staff, and then reply submissions, and my understanding is those dates are now set as April 15th for Board Staff and intervenors and April 22nd for Milton Hydro's reply.

Moving on to the outstanding issues, we're essentially left with two issues to be determined by the Board in this proceeding.  Milton Hydro's OM&A request was unsettled in its entirety, and its capital issue was settled with the exception of matters relating to its administration and operations building at 200 Chisholm Drive in Milton.

Specifically, the first issue of OM&A as set out in the Board's issues list was, is the level of planned OM&A expenditures appropriate and is the rationale for planning choices appropriate and adequately explained, giving due consideration to customer feedback and preferences, productivity, benchmarking of costs, reliability and service quality, impact on distribution rates, tradeoffs with capital spending, government-mandated obligations, and the objectives of the applicant and its customers.

The second issue, the capital issue in full, was, is the level of planned capital expenditures appropriate and is the rationale for planning and pacing choices appropriate and adequately explained, giving due consideration to customer feedback and preferences, productivity, compatibility with historic expenditures, compatibility with applicable benchmarks, reliability and service quality, impact on distribution rates, tradeoffs with OM&A spending, government-mandated obligations, and the objectives of the applicant and its customers.

As I noted, the issue is partly settled, with the exception of matters related to 200 Chisholm Drive.

The Board's determination of these issues will also affect the resolutions of issues 2.1 and 2.2, which relates to the calculation of the base revenue requirement, but I don't propose to speak to those issues separately.  Those are really consequential revisions based on the outcome of the two disputed issues.

With respect to OM&A first, as both the Milton application and Ms. Corkum explained, Milton Hydro is experiencing an extraordinary amount of growth.  Over 15 percent in the 2011 to '14 period alone when its peer group as a whole experienced an average of 2.4 percent growth over the same period.  Milton Hydro is growing at over five times the rate of its mid-sized GTA medium-high to high undergrounding peer group.

As Ms. Corkum testified, no comparator LDC is experiencing anywhere near that level of growth.  While it may be fair to say that growth is good because it adds to revenue, Milton Hydro's evidence shows that the growth that it is experiencing is bringing challenges.  Milton Hydro's service area remains approximately 85 percent rural as of 2014, and as Ms. Corkum testified, in 2014 Milton Hydro served 94.6 customers per square kilometre, less than one-third of the average of LDCs in the 25,000 to 100,000 customer range.  That average is 318 customers per square kilometre.

As Ms. Corkum noted, servicing customers in rural areas has proven to be more expensive than serving urban customers, in most cases.  That said, Milton Hydro has succeeded in maintaining its OM&A per customer at slightly less than its peer group average.  Milton Hydro submits that it has been a very efficient distributor for a very long time.

During that period there has been an 80 percent increase in customers, but as Ms. Corkum testified, Milton Hydro has held its cost increases at just above inflation while keeping pace with huge customer growth, increases in legislative requirements as the employee complement increases, and continuing to service significant rural area.

While Milton Hydro's administrative and O&M costs have clearly increased over time, Milton Hydro for its part has acted responsibly and prudently, and Milton Hydro submits that the increases in OM&A proposed in this application related to salaries and wages are reasonable.

In the executive summary to the application in Exhibit 1 at page 49 of 108, Milton Hydro provided the OEB with a table summarizing the OM&A cost drivers that have led to an increase in OM&A from $6.3 million in 2011, an amount that was agreed to in the Board-approved settlement proposal and Milton Hydro's 2011 cost-of-service application, to approximately $10.1 million, as updated through the interrogatory process for the 2016 test year.

Ms. Corkum also referred to that table in her evidence-in-chief.  Of that difference of 3.8 million, almost 1.5 million, or almost half, was attributable to changes in accounting practices that were out of Milton Hydro's control.

Milton Hydro had to transition from CGAAP to modified IFRS, and with that transition Milton Hydro could not continue to capitalize certain items.  When those previously capitalized costs became OM&A expenditures, OM&A increased, and it increased significantly.

The next largest driver, just over $1 million, was wages, salaries, progression, and benefits.  The OM&A increase in 2016 reflects the addition of five additional staff members, and a total of 12 from 2011 to 2016.  Of those 12, two-thirds are lines workers, metering staff, and customer-service representatives, all of whom work directly with Milton Hydro's customers and are critical to the maintenance of the reliability and quality of distribution service and they are at the front line in dealing with customers.

As of 2014 Milton Hydro's customers per employee figure was 675, where the average for Ontario's LDCs was 499 customers per employee.  Even with employee additions in 2015 and the five positions proposed for the 2016 test year, Milton Hydro will be at 606 customers per employee, still far above the industry average.

It is clear from the evidence that Milton Hydro is not overstaffed.  On the contrary, the evidence shows that Milton Hydro is making highly efficient use of its staff and is being selective and prudent about the positions it's adding.

I should also note that, as the witnesses testified, some of these additions are necessary as Milton Hydro transitions from a smaller LDC to a larger LDC and continues to build corporate infrastructure to handle the additional needs of a larger LDC.

For example, I'll raise -- I'll address four positions that came out of Ms. Corkum's testimony:  human resources, SCADA technician, network administrator, and a communications specialist.

As far as the HR position goes, Ms. Corkum testified that managers were doing their own HR work.  Milton Hydro submits that it's reasonable to have a coordinated, dedicated approach to human resources, as it becomes a larger utility.

With respect to the SCADA technician, the management of Milton Hydro's smart-grid infrastructure has become more important over time.  The network administrator was important because Milton Hydro's systems have become more complex, with SCADA and smart-grid functions.

With respect to the communications specialist, it was clear from the 2013 ice storm -- and the Board heard this from the Milton Hydro witnesses -- that customers want more feedback from their utility.  They want to understand what's happening with outages, and they need responses from the utility on a more timely basis than might have been the case otherwise.

So again, I would suggest that the Milton Hydro acquisitions in this area, staff acquisitions in this area, were reasonable and appropriate.

These additions are lumpy.  They represent a material addition to Milton Hydro's revenue requirement.  But they will continue to provide services to Milton Hydro and its customers as the utility continues to grow.

While Milton Hydro may be 85 percent rural, Ms. Corkum also testified that because it is close to the GTA, it has to compete with GTA employers for qualified candidates.  That also creates upward pressure on wages, and accordingly, on OM&A.

Ms. Corkum addressed the other drivers of OM&A in her presentation, and I won't repeat those explanations here, except to point out two things -- sorry, three things.  First, that the increase of $360,000 in tree trimming costs is partially a direct result of Milton Hydro's experience during the December 2013 ice storm.  It's due to customer feedback and it's due to the desire to reduce vegetation-related outages.

All of these concerns relate to the maintenance of the quality and reliability of electricity service to Milton Hydro's customers.

Second, Milton Hydro's decision to contract with Guelph Hydro for control room services in the amount of $170,000 rather than establish its own control room represents a prudent and cost effective approach to servicing Milton Hydro's customers.

Third, I should note that Milton will incur ongoing costs for the maintenance and support of systems such as SCADA, WiMAX, and Milton Hydro's outage management system, all of which have been implemented in recent years and all of which go directly to the maintenance of the reliability and quality of Milton Hydro's service to its customers.

To conclude on this issue, Milton Hydro submits that the questions of whether the level of its planned OM&A expenditures is appropriate, and whether the rationale for planning choices is appropriate and adequately explained giving due consideration to the factors set out in issue 1.2, should be answered in the affirmative.

Moving to 200 Chisholm, with respect to the 200 Chisholm Drive administration and operations building, the detailed discussion of Milton Hydro's options with respect to a replacement for the building it had been renting from 2009 to 2015 at 8069 Lawson Road can be found starting at page 30 of Exhibit 1 to its application.

Milton Hydro also provided over 100 pages of relocation committee documents in response to Schools' interrogatory 14, and you've heard Mr. Lasowski's testimony on the process leading to the acquisition and about the 200 Chisholm property itself during this hearing.

I'm not going to go into this matter in the same detail here.  But I do want to touch on a number of key items.  I expect Milton Hydro will have more to say on this in its reply submission.

It's important to be given some background to this acquisition.  Milton Hydro was originally located in a town of Milton property at 55 Thompson Road.  In 2009, Milton Hydro purchased approximately six acres of land at Main Street east and -- excuse me, Main Street East and Fifth Line for a future administration and operations centre.  You've heard that property referred to throughout this hearing as the Main and Fifth property.

That land was unserviced, and was part of what was known as Phase 3 of the Derry Green business park in Milton.  The town advised Milton Hydro in 2009 that the lease at 55 Thompson Road would not be renewed, as the site would be used for other municipal services.

In 2009, Milton Hydro entered into a five-year lease for the property at 869 Lawson Road.  As Mr. Lasowski testified, that was a temporary solution.  At the time, Milton Hydro assumed that the Main and Fifth property would have water and sanitary sewer service before the expiry of the lease on the Lawson Road property.

In the meantime, Milton Hydro used the Main and Fifty property for outdoor storage, because the Lawson Road property did not have adequate storage for inventory and equipment.  Milton Hydro's search for a permanent solution to its administrative and operation space needs began in 2010.  By 2012, it became clear to Milton Hydro that the Main and Fifth property would not be serviced before the Lawson Road lease expired, and Milton Hydro had to consider its available options.

Those included trying to extend the lease at Lawson Road until the Main and Fifth site could be serviced, building at Main and Fifth using temporary well and septic services until permanent servicing was available, and finding a different site with or without an existing building.

First, extending the lease at Lawson Road was not an option.  Not only had Milton Hydro's landlord made it clear that its plan was to move its operations from its other premises over to Lawson Road.  But even if Milton Hydro could have stayed, the evidence is that the space was not viable.  There was inadequate room for growth in Milton Hydro's staff, and there was limited functionality for inventory and vehicle storage.

Second, the property at Main and Fifth was included as Phase 3 of the Derry Green business park.  In 2013, plans were being completed for Phase 1 of Derry Green, with no firm construction start date or final subdivision layout.

But the timing issue turned out to be only one of the challenges for that site.  The site also suffered from space limitations in two ways.  The feasibility of the Fifth and Main site depended on the acquisition of two additional parcels of land.  One was a corner lot adjacent to the Milton Hydro site, owned by a private party, and the other was a portion of the neighbouring parcel owned by Hydro One.

The Fifth and Main site was approximately six acres, and Milton Hydro's plan was to purchase an additional three acres from Hydro One and one acre from private owner.  Those negotiations were carried over a lengthy period, but they were ultimately unsuccessful.

The Town of Milton also required property on the south side of Main Street for road widening and that, together with town storm water management requirements, would reduce even the parcel that Milton Hydro already owned.  As a result, Milton Hydro had to consider alternative solutions.

The third approach was to find a different site with or without an existing building.  In 2010, Milton Hydro established a relocation committee comprised of two board members and the CEO, and the years long process to find alternative space is documented in the relocation committee material filed in response to Schools interrogatory 14.

The search for existing properties that were available and could be readily modified to meet Milton Hydro's needs was initially unsuccessful.  So the search was extended to examine vacant sites with sufficient area to meet Milton Hydro's current and future needs.

The search was interrupted during negotiations with Hydro One regarding the land abutting the Main and Fifth site, but the search resumed when those negotiations failed.  According to Mr. Lasowski's evidence, Milton Hydro had initially determined it needed a nine- to 10-acre site with a total of 128,000 square feet of administration and operations space.  That had been the plan for the Main and Fifth site.

Of the 128,000 square feet, 26,000 would have been administrative space and 37,000 would have been operations space.  The balance of 65,000 square feet would have been outside storage.

Milton Hydro's board of directors approved the offer to purchase the -- excuse me, sorry -- the current site in May of 2014.  The transaction was concluded in June of 2014, and Milton Hydro took possession of 200 Chisholm in September 2014.  According to Milton Hydro's interrogatory responses at pages 841 to 846, Milton Hydro was purchasing a building that was 23 years old, but it was in very good condition structurally the.  The building was constructed with heavier foundations, exterior curtain walls, structural steel and thicker floors.  There would be a certain amount of reasonable wear and tear as was acknowledged in the materials -- this was acknowledged.

200 Chisholm Drive has seven acres, approximately 20,000 square feet of office with 12,800 square feet of mezzanine suitable for offices, and 59,000 square feet of warehouse, totalling 91,800 square feet.  Was the 200 Chisholm Drive site ideal?  No, it wasn't; renovations were still needed.  As Milton Hydro explained as page 32 of Exhibit 1, the warehouse space was very sound, but the office space needed renovations and the manufacturing space, as the space had been used for manufacturing, needed to be converted to warehousing of material and vehicles.

You heard Mr. Lasowski mention this morning the need to resurface the floor in the warehouse area as just one example of that conversion process.

In comparison to the facility that had been planned for Main and Fifth, there was slightly more administrative space, more inside storage and less outside storage than was ideal at 200 Chisholm.

The 128,000 square feet of total space envisioned at Main and Fifth had been reduced to approximately 121,000 square feet at 200 Chisholm.  However, after a four-year process, Milton Hydro had a permanent facility that would accommodate its current and imminent needs, particularly when one considers Ms. Corkum's evidence about the rapid growth of Milton as a community, and Milton Hydro as its electricity distributor.

Moreover -- and this is particularly important from the perspective of protecting the interests of the consumer with respect to the price of electricity service -- Milton Hydro had acquired a solidly constructed building and renovated it for a total of 14-and-a-half million dollars, whereas Mr. Lasowski testified over $1 million less than the cost of assembling the land necessary to build at Main and Fifth, even if that had been a possibility, and building a new facility at the Main and Fifth property.

Now, how can the Board be satisfied that the investment was prudent?  As Mr. Lasowski discussed in his evidence-in-chief, even aside from the projected cost of land assembly and construction at Fifth and Main, which turned out not to have been an option, Milton Hydro's total cost of $158 per square foot compares extremely favourably to the average cost of $225.52 per square foot for the four distributors that have recently built combined administrative and operations buildings.  In addition to Milton Hydro, Waterloo North, Innisfil Hydro, and Hydro Ottawa have constructed combined administrative and operations facilities.

Finally, I would draw the Board's attention to page 32 of Exhibit 1 of the application.  In its 2011 cost-of-service application, and more particularly in its Board-approved settlement proposal, Milton Hydro had agreed that, as it was only using 50 percent of the Main and Fifth site for outside storage, only 50 percent of the cost of the site, or $1,109,265 of the original purchase price of $2,218,530 would be included in the opening rate base for Milton Hydro's 2011 test year.

In preparing the current application, Milton Hydro removed $1,109,265 from rate base for the 2015 bridge year.  The Main and Fifth property was sold at the appraised value of $2.4 million, according to the Colliers International appraisal, included in the application as attachment 1-3.

Milton Hydro confirms that it did credit 50 percent of the net proceeds of the sale, which corresponds to 100 percent of the net proceeds on the rate-based portion of the Main and Fifth parcel, to customers as a revenue offset for the following five years, with the proceeds being used to partially finance the 200 Chisholm Drive service centre and administration building.

To conclude on this issue, Milton Hydro submits that the questions of whether the level of its capital expenditure related to the 200 Chisholm Drive property is appropriate, and whether the rationale for planning choices is appropriate and adequately explained giving due consideration to the factors set out in issue 1.1 should be answered in the affirmative.

For all of these reasons Milton Hydro submits that its proposed OM&A for the 2016 test year of $10,122,448 and its capital expenditure related to 200 Chisholm Drive should be approved as requested.

Thank you.  Those are my comments for today.  And Milton Hydro will have more to say in reply.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any questions?  Okay.  I think with that I would like to thank everybody for your time and all the help, and we're adjourned.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you for your hearing, sir.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:26 p.m.
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